SCHOOLS OF THE COLORED POPULATION.

PERIOD I.—1801-1861.

The struggles of the colored people of the District of Columbia, in securing for themselves
the means of edueation, furnish a very iustructive chapter in the history of schools. Their
courage and resolution were such, in the midst of their own great ignorance and strenuous
oppoxition from without, that a permanent record becomes an act of justice to them. In the
language of Jefferson to Banneker, the black astronomer, it is n publication to which their
¢“ whole color has a right for their justification against the doabts which have been entertained
of them.””  Though poor, proseribed £nd unlettered, they founded, in their humble way, an
insticution for the education of their children within less than two years after the first school-
Louse of whites was built inthe city. ‘The sentiment against the edueation of the eolored classes
was much less rigorous in the early history of the capital than it was a third of a century
later.  The free colored peeple were sometimes even encouraged, to a limited extent, in their
efforts to pick up some fragments of knowledge. They were taught in the Sunday schools
and cvening schools occasionally, and respectable mulatto families were in many cases
allowed to attend, with white children, the private schools and academies. There ave scores
of colored men and women still living in this District who are decently educated, and who
never went to any but white schools.  There are also white men and women still alive here,
who went to school in this c¢ity and in Georgetown with colored children and felt no offence,
Auother fuet important to he counsidered is that the colored people, who first settled in Wash-
ington, constituted a very superior class of their race. Many of them were fuvorite family
servants, who came here with congressmen from the south, and with the families of other
public officers, and who by long and faithful service had secured, by gift, purchase, or oth.
erwise, their freedom,  Others were superior mechanics, house servants, and enterprising in
various callings, who obtained their freedom by their own persevering industry. Some,
ulso, hud received their freedom before coming to this city, and of these there was one fumily,
to be referred to hereafter, which came from Mount Vernon.,  Still the number of those who
could read, even of the very best class of colored people, was very small,

THE FIRST SCHOOI, AND SCHOOL 1IOUSE.

The first school-house in this District, built expressly for the education of colored children,
was erected by three men who had been born and reared as slaves in Maryland and Virginia.
Their numnes were George Bell, Nicholas Franklin and Moses Liverpool. It wusa good one-
story frame building, and stood upon a lot directly opposite to and west of the house in which
ihe mother of Daniel Carroll, of Duddington, then resided, and where the Providence Hos-
pital now stands. It was built about the year 1807, and a school, under & white teacher,
Mr. Lowe, was opened there as soon as it was finished. It was a full school, and continued
several years, after which, for a time, the bouse was used as a dwelling. The following is
0 suninary from the census of Washington taken in 1807, the year in which this colored
school-house was built:

White males..... Cereeeemaeeneaaaa. 2,139 | Free black females.... ..o oo ... 153
White females............coool. 2,009 | Free mulatto males. coeeneeunnn oo . 9
Mulesluves. ceoeeveeeeeneeevanee.. 409 | Free mulatto females «ovvoeeeeace.a.. 120
Femalo s1aves «ooveeviisiiienneeee. 479 | Total WHIte s veme ceee e e cnees 4, 148
Male non-resident slaves....... e 55 | Total free colored ..cacv e cevoaan. - 494
Female non-resident slaves.......... 61 || Total 81aves vuve ccevvcecancacacan.s 1,004

Free black males......c.oo.oococe. 126 | Total colored «eeunnenveoeenn cuaenenn 1,498
It is seen from these figures that when this school was put into operation there was n pop-

ulation of 494 souls only to represent it that being the number of free colored persons.  On tis
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vtlier hand, with & population of more than 4,000, the white residents had the year before buiit
but two public school-houses for white scholars, one in the eastern and the other in the west-
ern section of the city, though there were three or four small private schools, The three
men who built the school-house had at that time just emerged from the condition of slaves,
and knew not a letter of the alphabet. Franklin and Liverpool were caulkers by trade, hav-
ing come from the sea-coast in the lower part of Virginia, and were at work in the Navy Yard,
How they sccured their freedom is not clearly known, though the tradition is that Franklin,
experiencing religion, was made free by his master, who was a member of the Methodist
church, the discipline of which at that time admitted no slave to membership.* These two
wen worked at their trade all their lives, raised up their families with all the education their
means would afford, and their grandchildren are now among the respectable colored people
of this city. .

THE BELL AND BROWNING FAMILIES,

George Bell was the leading spirit in this remarkable educational enterprise, and was
conspicuous in all efforts for the benefit of his race in this community. He was, the
slave of Authony Addisou, who owned a large estate upon the borders of the District
beyond the Eastern Branch, and his wife, Sophia Browning, belonged to the Bell family. on
the Patuxent.  When the commissioners were surveying the District in 1791 they received
their meals from their cabin across the Eastern Braneh, and the wife used often to describe
the appearance of Benjamin Banneker, the celebrated mathematician and astronomer, who
was one of the surveying party by invitation of the eommissioners. She had a market gar-
den and used to attend the Alexandria market every market day, though she had a family
ot three sons and a daughter. In this manner she saved four hundred dollars without the
knowledge of her owner, who was Mrs. Rachel Pratt, (Bell,) the mother of Governor Pratt,
of Maryland. This money wus intrusted to a Methodist preacher, who bought the hus-
band’s freedom with i, and shortly afterwards, while the wife was dangerously sick, her
freedom was bought for five pounds Marylund currency by the husband. These purchases
were cffected about six years before the building of the school-house. T'wo of the sons,
born in slavery, the father purchased a few years later; the third was accidentally killed in
Washington, and the daughter they could not buy, her mistress declining peremptorily to
relinquish ber, but making her free by her will at her decease, which occurred many years
later in Georgetown. These children Lelonged, as did the mother, to Mrs. Pratt. The two
boys were purchased “ running "—while on the foot as runaways—the one for $750 and the
other for §450. The first free-born child, widow Harriet Dunlap, a woman of much intel-
ligence and singular clearness of memory, born in 1803, is still living and resides here, as
do also Margaret, who was freed by Mrs. Pratt, and the two younger sons. The two sons
that were purchased were both lost at sea. Mrs. Dunlap, and her next sister, Elizabeth,
ufter the Bell school, as it may be called, closed, went for brief periods successively to schools
taught by Henry Potter, an Englishman, by Anne Maria Hall, and Mrs. Marin Iuley.
There were several colored children in Mrs. Haley’s school, and some complaints being made
to the teacher, who was an Irish lady, the two Bell girls were sent to the school in Baltimore,
tunght by Rev. Daniel Coker, whe subsequently, as a colored Methodist missionary, became
conspicuvusly known throughout the Christinn world by his wisc and courageous work in
the first emigration to Liberia. They remained at this school two years and a half, from 1812
to 1215, George Bell died in 1343, at the age of 82 years, and his wife some years later,
at the age of 86, They left ull their children not only with a good edueation but
w150 in comfortable pecuniary circumstances. The mother was & woman of superior character,
as were all the family. One sister was the wife of the late Rev. John F. Cook, and

* The Methodist Discipline as amended in 1784 prescribed nmong other rules the following two:

First. Every member of our Socicty who has slaves in his possession shall, within twolvo months after
uotice given to him by the ubsistant, legally execute an instrument whereby he emancipates and sets free
every slave in his pogsession,

Second, No person holding slaves shall in future be admitted into our Society or to the Lord's Supper, till
be previously complios with these rules concerning slavery,
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another was Mrs. Alethia Tanner, whose force of character and philanthropy gave her
remarkable prominence here and elsewhere among her race, and commanded the respect
of all who knew her. All of the Browning family belonged to Mrs. Rachel Pratt. Mrs.
Tanner commenced her remarkable career by the purchase of her own freedom for §$1,400.
The last payment of $275 was mado June 29, 1810, and her manumission papers from Mrs.
Rachel Pratt bear date July 10, 1810. In 18206 she purchased her older sister, Laurena Cook,
and five of the Cook children, four sons and a daughter. One of these sons, then sixteen
years old, was afterwards known and respected for more than a quarter of a century by all
classes in this community as an able and enlightened school teacher and clergyman. His
name was John F, Cook. In 1823 she purchased the rest of the Cook children and their
offspring as follows : Hanrah and her two children, Annetto and her two children, Alothia and
her child, George Cook and Daniel Cook, comprising, in all, hersister with ten children and
five grandchildren, paying for the sister $300, and for the children an average of 8300
each. She also purchased the freedom of Lotty Riggs and her four children, and of John
Butler, who became a useful Methodist minister; and in 1837 she purchased the freedom of
Charlotte Davis, who is still living in this city. The documents showing these purchases
are all preserved in the Cook family. Mrs. Tanner was alive to cvery wise scheme for the
cducation and elevation of herrace. It was through her efforts, combined with those of her
brother in law, George Bell, that the First Bethel Church on Capitol Hill was saved for that
society. When the house was put up at auction by the bank which held tho notes of the
society, these two individuals came forward, bid in the property, puid for it and waited for
their pay till the society was able to raise tho money. Mrs. Tanner, at her death in 1864,
left a handsome property. Her husband died many years before, and she had no children.
She was the housemaid of Mr. Jefferson during his residence at the capital, and Richard
M. Johnson, who was her friend, appears as the witness to the manumission papers of Lau-
rena Cook, her sister, and of John F. Cook, the son of Laurena, whose freedom she bought
while Mr. Johnson was United States senator.

THE SCHOOL OF THE RESOLUTE BENEFICIAL SOCIETY.

After the Bell school-house had been used several years as a dwelling, it was in 1318 again
taken for educational purposes, to accommodate an association organized by the leading
colored men of the city, and for the specific purpose of promoting the education of their race.
The courage of these poor men, nearly all of whom had but a few years previously emerged
from bondage and could not read a syllable, cannot be justly estimated without recalling the
fact, that at that period the free colored people were considered everywhere in the south as a
nuisance, and very largely so through the north. The Savannah Republican newspaper, in
1817, in & carefully prepured article on the subject, said: *The free people of color have never
conferred a bmgle benefit on the country. They have been and are a nuisance, which we wish
to get rid of as soon as possible, the filth and offal of society ;™ and this article was copied
approvingly into leading, temperate northern journals. It will be seen from the announce-
ment that this school was established upon the principle of receiving all colored children who
should come, tuition being exacted only from such as were ablo to pay ; that it was more nearly
a free school than anything hitherto known in the city. The aunouncement of this school,
which appearedin the columns of the Daily National Intelligencer, August29, 1818, is full of
interest. It clearly indicates, among other things, the fact that at that period there were some
slave owners in this District who were recognized by the colored people as fiiendly to the educa-
tion of their slaves; a sentiment, however, which, in the gradual prostitution of public opinion
on the subject, was very thoroughly eradicated in the succeeding forty years, But what is
of special significance in this remarkable paper is the humble language of apology in which
it is expressed. It is plainly manifest in every sentence that an apology was deemed neces-
sary from these poor people for presuming to do anything for opening to their offspring the
gates of knowledge which had been barred to themselves. The document reads as follows:

“A School,

“TFounded by an association of free people of color, of the city of Washington, called the
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' Resolute Beneflcinl Soclety,’ situate near the Eastern Public School and the dwelling of
Mrs. Fenwick, is now opoen for the reception of childron of fiee people of color and others,
that Indies or gontlemon may think proper to sond to be instructed in reading, writing,
arithmetic, Inglish grammar or other branches of educution apposite to their capacities,
by a steady, active and experienced teacher, whose attention is wholly devoted to the pur-
poses deseribed. It is presumed that free colored familics will embraco the ndvantages thus
presented to them, either by subscribing to the funds of the society or by sending their chil.
dren to the achool.  An improvement of the intellect and morals of colored youth being the
objects of this institution, t‘m patronage of benevolent ladies and gentlomen, by donation or
subscription, is lmmbl{ solicited in aid of the fund, tlm‘ demands thercon being heavy and the
means at present much too limited.  For the satisfuction of the public, the constitution and
articles of association are printed and published. And to avoid disagreeable ocenrrences, no
writings aro to be done by the teacher for a slave, neither direetly nor indirectly, to serve the

urpose of & slave on any account whatever, Further purticulars may be kunown by apply-
ing to any of the undevsigned officers.

SWILLIAM COSTIN, President. *ARCHIBALD JOHNSON, Marshal.
“AEORGE HICKS, Vice-President. “ FRED. LIWWIS, Chairman of the Committee,
“JAMES HARRIS, Seerctary. CISAAC JOHINSON,

“GEORGE BELL, Treasurer. “ SCIPIO BEENS, % Comnmittee.

“N. B.—An evening school will commence on the premises on the first Monday of Octo-
ber, and continue throughout the season.

1 The managers of Sunday schools in the eastern district ave thus most dutifully
informed that on Sabbath days the school-house belonging to this society, if required for the
tuition of colored ‘yomh, will bo uniformiy at their service.

“August 29, 3¢

This school was continued several years successfully, with an ordinary attendance of fifty
or gixty seholars, and often more.  The fivst teacher was Mr, Pierpont, from Massachusetts,
a velative of the poet; and after two or three years, was succeeded by John Adams, a shoe-
maker, who was the first colored man who taught in this District, and who, after leaving
this =chool, had another, about 1322, near the Navy Department. The Bell school-house
was after this period used as a dwelling by one of Bell’s sons, and at his father's decease fell
to hix danghter Elizabeth, the wife of Basil Sims. Soon afterwards Sims and his wife both
died, leaving a handsome property for their children, which, however, was totally dissipated
by the exeentor.  The Bell school-house and lot were sold for taxes; the children whea com-
ing of age vainly secking its recovery,

MR, UEXRY POTTER'S SCHOOL.

The third school for colored children in Washington was established by Mr. Henry Potter,
an Euglishiman, who opened his school about 1809, in a brick building which then stood on the -
southeast corner of I and Seventh streets, opposite the block where the post office building
now stands. e continued there several years and had a large school, moving subsequently to
what was then known as Clark's row on Thirteenth street west, between G and H streets north,

MRS, HALL'S SCHOOL.

During this period Mrs. Anne Maria Hall started a school on Capitol Hill, between the Old
Capitol and Carroll row, on First street cast.  After continuing there with a full school
for some ten years, she moved to a building which stood on what is now the vacant por-

“tion of the Casparis House lot on A street, close to the Capitol.  Some years later she went to
the First Bethel chureh, and after a year or two she moved to a house still standing on E
street north, between Eleventh and Twelfth west, and there taught many years. She wasa
culored woman from Prince George's county, Maryland, and had a respectable cducation,
which she obtained at schools with white children in Alexaundria. Her husband died early,
leaving her with children to support, and she betook herself to the work of a teacher, which
she loved, and in which, for not less than twenty-five years, she met with uniform success.
Her schools were all quite large, and the many who remember her as their teacher speak of
her with great respect.

MRS, MARY BILLING'S SCHOOL.

Of the early teachersof colored schools in this District there is no one whose name is men-
tioned with more gratitude and respect by the inteiligent colored residents that that of Mrs.
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Mary Billing, who established the first colored school that was gatheredin Georgetown. She
was an English woman ; her husband, Joseph Billing, a cabinet maker, coming from England
in 1800, settled with his family that year in Washington, and dying in 1807 left his wifo with
three children.  She was well educated, a capable and good woman, and immediately com-
menced teaching to support her family. At first, it is believed, she was connected with the
corporation school of Georgetown, It was while in a white school certainly that her atten-
tion was arrested by the wants of the colored children, whom she was accustomed to receive
into her schiools, till the opposition became 80 marked that she decided to make her school
exclusivel, conlored. She was a womau of strong religious convictions, and being English,
with none of the ideas peculiar to slave society, when she saw the peculiar destitution of the
colored children in the community around her, she resolved to give her lifo to the class who
seemed most to need her services. She established a colored school about 1810, in a brick
house still standing on Dunbarton street opposite the Methodist church, between Congress
and High streets, remaining there till tho winter of 1820-'21, when she came to Washington
and opened a school in the house on H street near the Foundry church, then owned by Daniel
Jones, a colored man, and still owned and occupied by a member of that family. She died
in 1826 in the fiftieth year of her age. She continued her school till failing health, a year or
so before her death, compelled its relinquishment. Her school was always large, it being
patronized in Georgetown as well as afterwards by the best colored families of Washington,
many of whom sent their children to her from Cupitol Hill and the vicinity of the Navy Yard.
Most of the better educated colored men and women now living, who were school children in
Ler time, received the bust portion of their education from her, and they all speak of her
with a deep and tender sense of obligation. Henry Potter succceded her in the Georgotown
school, and after him Mr. Shay, an Englishman, who subsequently came to Washington and
for many years had alarge colored school in a brick building known as the Round Tops, in the
western part of the city, near the Circle, and still later removing to the old Western Academy
building, corner of I and Seventecuth streets. He was there till about 1830, when he was con-
victed of assisting a slave to his freedom and sent a term to the penitentiary. Mrs. Billing
liad a night school in which she was greatly assisted by Mr, Monroe, a government clerk and a
Presbyteriau elder, whose devout and benevolent charaeter is still remembered in the churehes.
Mrs. Billing had scholars from Bladensburg and the surrounding country, who came into
Georgetown und boarded with her and with others. About the time when Mrs. Billing
relinquished her school in 1822 or 1323, what may be properly called

THE SMOTHERS SCHOOL-HOUSE

was built by Henry Smothers on the corner of Fourteenth and H streets, not far from the
Treasury building. Smothers bad a small dwelling-house on this corner, and built his school-
house on the rear of the same lot. He had been long a pupil of Mrs. Billing, and had
subsequently taught a school on Washington street, opposite the Union Hotel in Georgetown.
He opened his school in Washington in the old corporation school-house, built in 1806, but
some years before this period abandoned as a public school-house. It was known as tho
Western Academy, and is still standing and used as s school-house on the corner of I and
Nineteenth streets west. When his school-house on Fourteenth and II streets was finished
his sehool went into the new quarters. This school was very large, numbering alivays more
than a hundred and often as high as a hundred and fifty scholars. e taught here about
two years, and was succeeded by John W. Prout about the year 1825, Prout was a man of
ability. In 1331, May 4, there was a meeting, says the National Intelligencer of that date,
of *“the colored citizens, large and very respectable, in the African Methodist Episcopal
church,” to consider the question of emigrating to Liberia. John W. Prout was chosen to
preside over the assemblage, and the article in the Intelligencer represents him as making
*a speech of decided force and well adapted to the occasion, in support of a set of resolu-
tions which he had drafted, and which set forth views adverse to leaving the soil that had
given them birth, their true and veritable home, without the benefits of education,” The school
under Prout was governed by a board of trustces and was orgauized as
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A FREE SCHOOL,

and so continued two or three yoars. The number of scholars was very large, averaginga
hundred and fifty. Mrs. Anne Maria Hall wa~ the assistant teacher. It relied mainly for
support upon subscription, twelve and a half cents a month only being expected from each
pupil, and this amount was not compulsory. The school was free to all colored children,
without money or price, and so continued two or three years, when failing of voluntary
pecuniary support (it never wanted scholars) it became a regular tuition school.” Tle school
under Mr. Prout was called the ** Columbian Institute,” the name being suggested by John
McLeod, the famous TIrish schoolmaster, who was a warm friend of this institution after
visiting and commending the scholars and teachers, and who named his new building in
1835 the Columbian Academy. Tho days of thick darkness to the colored people were
approaching. The Nat. Turnerinsurrectionin Southampton county, Virginia, which occurred
in August, 1831, spread terror everywhere in slave communities. In this district, imme-
diately upon that terrible occurrence, the colored children, who had in very large numbers
been received into Sabbath schools in the white churches, were all turned out of those schools,
This event, though sceming to be a fiery affliction, proved a blessing in disgnise, It aroused
the onergies of the colored people, taught them self-reliance, and they organized forthwith
Sabbath schools of their own. It was in the Smothers’ school-house that they formed their
first Sunday school, about the year 1832, and here they continued their very large school
for seveial years, the Fifteenth-strect Presbyterian Church ultimately springing from the
school organization. It is important to state in this cornection that

THE SJNDAY SCHOOL,

always an extremely important means of education for colored people in the days of slavery,
wag emphatically go in the gloomy times now upon them. It was the Sabbath school that
tuught the great mass of the free people of color about all the school knov/ledge that was
allowed them in those days, and hence the consternation which came upon them when they
found themselves excluded from the schools of the white churches. Lindsay Muse, who
has been the messenger for eighteen Socretaries of the Navy, successively, during forty years,
from 1328 to the present time; John Brown; Benjamin M. McCoy; Mr. Smallwood; Mrs.
Charlotte Norris, afterwards wife of Rev. Eli Nugent; and Siby McCoy are the only sur-
vivors of the resolute little band of colored men and women who gathered with and guided
that Sunday school, They had, in the successor of Mr. Prout, a man after their own heatt,

JOHN F. COOK,

who came into charge of this school in August, 1834, about eight years after his aunt, Alethia
Tanner, had purchased his freedom. He learned the shoemaker’s trade in his boyhood, and
worked diligently, after the purchase of his freedom, to make some return to his aunt for the
purchase money. About the time of his becoming of age he dislocated his shoulder, which
compelled him to scek other employment, and in 1831, the year of his majority, he obtained
the place of assistant messenger in the Land Office.  Hon. John Wilson, now Third Auditor
of the Treasury, was the messenger, and was Cook’s firm friend till the day of his death.
Cook had been a short time at school under the instruction of Smothers and Prout, but when
he entered the Land Office his education was at most only the ability to stumble along s
little in & primary reading book. He, however, now gnve himself in all his leisure moments,
early and late, to study. Mr. Wilsou remembers his indefatigable application, and affirms
that it was & matter of astonishment at the jime, and that he has seen nothing in all his
observation to surpass and scarcely to equal it. He was soon able to write a good hand, and
was employed with his pen in clerical work by the sanction of the Commissioner, Elishs
Hayward, who was much attached to him. Cook was now beginning to look forward tothe
life of a teacher, which, with the ministry, was the only work not menial in its nature then
open to an educated colored man. At the end of thres years he resigned his place in the
Land Office, and entered upon the work which he laid down only with his life. 1t was then
that he gave himself wholly to study and the business of education, working with ull bis
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might; his school numbering quite & hundred scholars in the winter and a hundred and fifty
in the summer. He had been in his work one year when the storm wkich had been, for some
years, under the discussion of the slavery question, gathering over the country at large, burst
upon this District.

THE 8NOW RIOT,

or *Snow storm,” as it has been commonly cailed, which occurred in September, 1835, is
an event that stands vividly in the memory of all colored people who lived in this com-
munity at that time. Benjamin Snow, a smart colored man, keeping a restaurant on the
corner of Pennsylvania avenue and Sixth street, was reported to have made some remark
of & bravado kind derogatory to the wives of white mechanics; whereupon this class, or
those assuming to represent them, made # descent upon his establishment, destroying all his
effects, Snow himself, who denied using the offensive language, with difficulty escaped
unharmed, through the management of white friends, taking refuge in Canada, where he
still resides. The military was promptly called to the rescue, at the head of which was
General Walter Jones, the eminent lawyer, who characterized the rioters, greatly to their
indignation, a3 “a set of ragamuffins,” and his action was thoroughly sanctioned by the
city authorities.

At the same time also there was o fierce excitement among the mechanics at the Navy
Yard, growing out of the fact that a large quantity of copror bolts being missed from the
yard and found to have been carried out in the dinner paiis by the hands, the commandant
bad forbid eating dinners in the yard. This order was interpreted as an insult to the white
mechanics, and threats were made of an assault on the yard, which was put in a thorough
state of defence by the commandant. The rioters swept through the city, ransacking the
houses of the prominent colored men and women, oriensibly in search of anti-slavery papers
and documents, the most of the gang impelled undoubtedly by hostility to the negro race
and motives of plunder. Nearly all the colored school-houses were partially demolished and
the furniture totally destroyed, and in several cases they were completely ruined. Some
private houses were also torn down or burnt. The colored schools were nearly all broken
up, and it was with the greatest difficulty that the colored churches were saved from destrue-
tion, as their Sabbath schoolé were regarded, and correctly regarded, as the means through
which the colored people, at that time, procured much of their education. ,

The rioters sought, especially, for Joha F. Cook, who, however, had seasonably taken -
from the stable the horse of his friend Mr. Hayward, the Commissioner of the Land Office,
an anti-slavery man, and fled precipitately from the city. They marched to his school-house,
destroyed all the books and furniture and partially destroyed the building. Mrs. Smothers,
who owned both the school-house and the dwelling adjoining and the lots, was sick in her
house at the time, but an alderman, Mr. Edward Dyer, with great courage and nobleness of
spirit, stood beiween the house and the mob for her protection, declaring that he would
defend her house from molestation with all the means be could command. They left
the house unharmed, and it is still standing on the premises. Mr. Cook went to Columbia,
Pegnsylvaniu, opened a school there, and did not venture back to his home till the autumn
of 1836. At the time the riot broke out, Gemneral Jackson was absent in Virginia. He
returned in the midst of the tumult, and immediately issuing orders in his bold, uncompro-
mising manner to the authorities to see the laws respected at all events, the violence was
promptly subdued. It was nevertheless a very dark time for the colored people. The timid
class did not for a year or two dare to send their children to school, and the whole mass of
the colored people dwelt in fear day and night. In August, 1836, Mr. Cook veturned from
Pennsylvania and reopened his school, which under him had, in 1834, received the name of

UNION SEMINARY,

During his year'’s absence he was in charge of a free colored public school in Columbia,
Lancaster county, Pennsylvania, which he surrendered to the care of Benjamin M. McCoy
when he came back to his home, Mr. McCoy going there to fill out his engagement.

He resumed his work with broad and elevated ideas of his business. 'This is clearly seen
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in the plan of his institution, embraced in the printed annual announcements and programmes
of his aunual exhibitions, copies of which have been preserved. The course of study
embraced three years, and there was a male and a female departinent, Miss Cathurine
Costin at one period being in charge of the female department.  Mr. Seaton, of the National
Intelligencer, among other leading and enlightened citizens and public men, used to visit
his school from ycar to year and watch its admirable working with deep and lively interest,
Cook was at this period not only watching over his very large school, ranging from 100 to
150 or more pupils, but was active in the formation of the *‘I%irst Colored Presbyterian
church of Washington,” which was organized in November, 1841, by Rev, John C. Smith,
D. D., and worshipped in this school-house. Tlo was now also giving deep study to the
preparation for the ministry, upon which in fact, as a licentiate of the African Methodist
Lipiscopal church, he had already in some degree entered. At a vegular meeting of **The
_Preshytery of the District of Columbia,” held in Alexandria, May 3, 1842, this church, now
commonly called the Fiftcenth Street Presbyterian chareh, was formally reccived under the
care of that Presbytery, the first and still the only colored Presbyterian church in this
Distvict.  Mr. Couk was elected the first pastor July 13, 1843, and preached his trial sermon
before ordination on the evening of that day, in the IFourth Presbyterian church (Dr. J, C.
Smith’s) in this city, in the presence of o large congregation,  This sermon is remembered
a8 a manly production, delivered with great dignity and toree and deeply imbued with the
spirit of his work. He was ordained in the Fifteenth-street church the next evening, and
continued to serve the church with eminent suceess till his death in 1835, Rev. John C.
Smith, D. D., who had preached his ordination sermon and been the devoted friend and
counsellor for nearly twenty years, preached his funeral sermon, seiecting as his text, **There
was a man sent from God whose name was John.”” There were present white as well as colored
clergymen of no less than five denominations, many of the oldest and most respectable citizens,
and a vast concourse of all classes, white and colored,  *“*The Fifteenth-street church,” in the
words of Dr. Smith in relation to them and their fivst pastor, *“is now a large and flowishing
congregation of spiritually-minded people.  They have been educated in the truth and the
principles of our holy religion, and in the new present state of things the men of this church
are trusted, relied on as those who fear God and keep his commandments.  The chureli is the
monument to John 17 Cook, the first pastor, who was fuithful in all his house, a workman
who labored night and day for years, and has entered into his reward. ¢ Blessed are the dead
who die in the Lord.”  * They rest from their labors and their works do follow them.'"”

In 1841, when he entered, in a preliminary and informal way, upon the pastorate of the
Fifteenth-street church, he scems to huve attempred to turn his seminary into a high school,
limited to 25 or 30 pupils, excluzively for the more advanced scholars of both sexes, and his
plan of studies to that end, as seen in his prospectus, evinces broad and elevated views—a
desire to aid in lifting his race to higher things in education than they had yet attempted.
His plans were not put into execution, in the matter of a high schovl, being frustrated by
the circumstance that there were so few good schools in the city for the colored people, at
that period, that his old patrens would not allow him to shut off the multitude of primary
scholars which were depending upon his school,  His seminary, however, continued to main-
tain its high standard, and had an average attendance of quite 100 year after year till he
surrendered up his work in death.

Ie raised up a large family and educated them well. The oldest of the sons, John and
George, were educated at Oberlin College.  The other three being young, were in school
when the father died. John and George, it will be seen, succeeded their father as teachers,
continuing in the business down to the present year. Of the two daughters the elder was
a teacher till married in 1866, and the other is now a teacher in the public schools of this
city. One son served through the war as sergeant of the 40th colored regiment, and another
served in the navy. )

At the death of the fatber, March 21, 12355, the school fell into the hands of the son, John
¥. Cook, who continued it till May, 1357, when it passed to a younger son, George I, T.
Cook, who moved it from its old home, the Smothers Tlouse, to the basement of the Presby-
terigu church in the spring of 1853, and maintained it till July, 1859, John F. Cook, jr., who
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had crected & new school-houso on Sixteerth street, in 1862, agnin gathered the school
which the tempests of the war had dispersed, aud continued it till June, 1867, when the new
order of things had opened ample school facilities throughout the city, and the teacher was
called to other duties, Thus ended the school which had been first gathered by Smothers
nearly 45 years before, and which, in that long period, had been continually maintained
with seldom less than 100 pupils, and for the most part with 150, the only suspensions
being in the year of the Snow riot and in the two years which ushered in the war.

The Smothers House, after the Cook schiool was removed, in 1838, was occupied for
two years by a free Catholic school, supported by *The St. Vincent de Paul Society,” a
henevolent organization of colored people. It was a very large school with two departments,
the boys under David Brown and the girls under Lliza Anne Cook, and averaging over
150 scholars.  When this school was transferred to another house, Rev, Chauncey Leonard,
a colored Baptist clergyman, now pastor of a church in Washington, and Nannie Waugh
opened a school there, in 1361, that became as large as that which had preceded it in the
same place. This school was broken up in 1862 by the destruction of the building at the
hands of the incendiaries, who, even at that time, were inspired with all their accustomed
vindictiveness towards the colored people.  But this was their last heathenish jubilee, and
from the ashes of many burnings imperishable liberty has sprung forth,

About the time that Smothers built his school-house, in 1823,

LOUISA PARKE COSTIN'S scnoak

was established in her father’s house on Capitol Hill, on A street south, under the shadow of
the Capitol. This Costin family came {rom Mount Vernon immediately after the death of
Marthn Washington, in 1302, The father, William Costin, who died suddenly in his bed,
May 31, 1242, was twenty-four years messenger for the Bank of Washington, in this city.
His death was noticed at length in the columns of the National Intelligencer in more than
one conmunication at the time. The obituary notice, written under the suggestions of the
bank ofticers, who had previously passed a resolution expressing their respect for his memory,
and appropriating fifty dollars towards the funeral expenses, suys: ** Itis due to the deceased
to say that his colored skin covered a benevolent heart,” concluding with this language:
“The deceased raised respectably a large family of children of his own, and in the exercise
of the purest benevolenee took into his family and supported four orphan children. The
tears of the orphan will moisten his grave, and his memory will be dear to all those—a
numerous class—whohave experienced his kindness ;" and adding these lines :

“ Honor and shame from no condition rise;
Act well your part—there all the honor lies,”

Jehn Quiney Adams also, a few days afterwards, in a diseussion on the wrongs of slavery,
alluded to the deceased in these words: ** The late Willimn Costin, though he was not white,
wus as much respeeted as any man in the District, and the large concourse of citizens that
attended his remains to the grave, as well white as black, was an evidence of the manner in
which he was estimated by the citizens of Washington.” His portrait, taken by the direc-
tion of the bank authorities, still hangs in the directors’ room, and it may also be seen in the
hoases of more than one of the old and promincnt residents of the city.

William Costin's mother, Ann Dandridge, was the daughter of a half-breed, (Indian und
and colored, ) her grandfather being a Cherokee chief, and her reputed father was the father
of Martha Dandridge, afterwards Mrs. Custis, who, in 1759, was mwiried to General Wash-
ington.  These daughters, Aun and Martha, grew up together, on the ancestral plantations.
William Costin's reputed father was white, and belonged to a prominent family in Virginia,
but the mother, after his birth, marricd one of the Mount Vernon slaves by the name of
Costiu, and the son took the name of William Costin. His mother being of Indian
descent, made him, under the laws of Virginia, & free born man. In 1800 he married Phil-
adelphia Judge, (his cousin,) one of Martha Washington’s slaves, at Mount Vernon, where
both were born in 1780, 'The wife was given by Martha Washington at Ler decease to her
granddaughter, Eliza Parke Custis, who was the wife of ‘Thomas Law, of Washington.  Soon
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after William Costin and his wife came to this city the wife's freedom was secured on kind and
easy terms, and the children were all born free, This is the account which William Costin
and his wifeand his mother, Ann Dandridge, always gave of their ancestry, and they were
persous of great precision in all matters of family history, as well as of the most rearked scrupu.
lousness in their statements. Their seven children, five daughters and two sons, went to
school with the white children on Capitol Hill, to Mrs, Maria Haley and other teachers,
The two younger daughters, Martha and Frances, finished their educatic.a at the Colored
Convent in Baltimore, Louisa Parke and Aun bad pussed their school days before the con.
vent was founded. Louisa Parke Costin opened her rchool at nineteen yee: s of age, continuing
it with much success till her sudden death in 1831, the year in which her mother also died.
When Martha returned from the Convent Seminary, a year or so later, she reopened the
school, continuing it till about 1839, This school, which was maintained some 15 years,
was always very full, The threesurviving sisters own and reside in the house which their
father built about 1812, One of these sisters married Richard Henry Fisk, o colored man of
good education, who died in California, and she now has charge of the 8enato ladies’ recep.
tion room. Ann Costin was for several years in the family of Major Lewis, (at Woodlawn,
Mount Vernion,) the nephew of Washington, Mrs. Lewis (Eleanor Custis) was the grand-
daughter of }v‘(artha Washington. This school was not molested by the mob of 1835, and
it was always \inder the care of n well-bred and well-educated teacher.

THE WESLEYAN SEMINARY.

While Martha Cogtin was teaching, James Enoch Ambush, a colored man, had also a large
school in the basement of the Israel Bothel church on Capitoi Hill for a while, commencing
there in April, 1833,%0(] continuing in various places till 1843, when he built a school-house
on E street south, near\’l‘enth, island, and established what was known as **T'he Wesleyan
Seminary,”” and which xr\us successfully maintained for 32 years, till the close of August,
1865, The school-house still stands, o comfortable one-story wooden structure, with the
sign ** Wesleyan Seminary’ over the door, as it has been there for 25 years, This was the
only colored school on the island of any account for many years, and in its humble way it
accomplished a great amount of good. For some years Mr. Ambush had given much
stady to Lotanic medicine, and sinee closing his school he has become a botanic physician,
He is o mau of fine sense, and without school advantages has acquired a respectable educa-
tion. :

FIRST SEMINARY FOR COLORED GIRLS.

The first seminary in the District of Columbia for colored girls was established in George-
town, in 1827, under tho special auspices of Father Vanlomen, a benevolent and devout
Catholic priest, then pastor of the Ioly Trinity Church, who not only gave this interesting
enterprise his hand and his heart, but for several years himself taught a school of colored
boys three days in a week, near the Georgetown College gate, in & small frame house, which
was alterwards famous as the residence of the broken-hearted widow of Commodore Decatur.
This female seminary was under the care of Muria Beeraft, who wns the most remarkable
colored young woman of her time in the District, and, perhaps, of any time. Her father,
William Becraft, born while his mother, a free woman, was the housekeeper of Charles
Carroll, of Carrollton, always had the kindest attentions of this great man, and there are
now pictures, move than a century and a half old, and other valuable relics from the Caroll
fumily now in the possession of the Becraft family, in Georgetown, which Charles Carroll
of Carrollton, in his last days, presented to William Becraft as family keepsakes. William
Becraft lived in Georgetown 64 years, coming there when eighteen years of age. He was for
many years chief steward of Union hotel, and a remarkable man, respected and honored by
everybody., When he died, the press of the District noticed, in a most prominent manner,
bis life and character. From one of the extended obituary notices, marked with heavy black
lines, the following paragraph is copied:

** He was among the last surviving representatives of the old school of well-bred, confi-
devtial, and iutelligent domestics, and was widely known at home and abroad from his con-
nection in the company of stewards for a long series of years, and probably from its origin,
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and until & recent date. with the Union hotel, Georgetown, with whose guests, for successive
geuerations, his benevolent and venerable aspect dignified and obliging manners, and moral
excellence rendered him a general favorite.”

Maria Becraft was marked from her childhood for her uncommon intelligence and refine-
ment, and for her extraordinary piety. She was born in 1803, and first went to school for a
year to Henry Potter, in Washington, about 1812, afterwards attending Mrs. Billings's
school constantly till 1820, She then, at the age of 15, opened & school for girls in Dun-
barton street, in Georgetown, and gave herself to the work, which sho loved, with the greatest
assiduity and with uniform success. In 1827, when she was twenty-two years of age, her
remarkable beauty and elevation of character so much impressed Father Vanlomen, the good
priest, that he took it in hand to give her & higher style of school in which to work for her
rex and race, to the education of which she had now fully consecrated herself. Her school
was accordingly transferred to a larger building, which still stands on Fayetto street, oppo-
site the convent, and there she opened a boarding and day school for colored girls, which she
continued with great success till August, 1831, when she surrendered her little seminary
into the care of one of the girls that she had trained, and in October of that year joined the
convent at Baltimore as a Sister of Providence, where she was the leading teacher till she
died, in December, 1833, a great loss to that young institution, which was contemplating
this noble young woman as its future Mother Superior. Her seminary in Georgetown aver-
aged from 30 to 35 pupils, and there are those living who remember the troop of girls,
dressed unitormly, which was wont to follow in procession their pious and refined teacher to
devotions on the sabbath at Holy Trinity Church. The school comprised girls from the best
colored families of Georgetown, Washington, Alexandria, and surrounding country. The
sisters of the Georgetown convent were the admirers of Miss Becraft, gave her instruction,
and extended to her the most heartfelt aid and "approbation in all her noble work, as they
were in those days wont to do in behalf of the aspiring colored girls, who sought for edu-
cation, withholding themselves from such work only when a depraved and degenerate public
sentiment upon the subject of educating the colored .people had compelled them to a more
1irid line of demarcation between the races. Ellen Simonds and others conducted the school
afew years, but with the loss of its original teacher it began to fail, and finally beeame
extinet,  Maria Becraft is remembered, wherever she was known, as a woman of the rarest
sweetness and exaltation of Christian life, graceful and attractive in person and manners,
gitted, well cducated, and whoily devoted to doing good. Her name as a Sister of Provi-
dence was Sister Aloyons. From the origin of this convent at Baltimore there has been
connected with it a female semicary, which last year was incorporated as

ST. FRANCES ACADEMY FOR COLORED GIRLS.

In this connection it is not inappropriaté to give some account of this school, which has
done so valuable a work for the education of tho colored people of this District and the coun-
try at large.  For many years it was the only colored school within the reach of the colored
people of this District, in which anything was attempted beyond the rough primary training
of the promiscuous school, and there are women who still live in this District and elsewhere,
whose well-bred families owe their refinements largely to the culture which the mothers a
quarter of a century ago, or more, received in this female seminary. It was there that many
of the first well-trained colored teachers were educated for the work in this capital,

St. Frances Academy for colored girls was founded in connection with the Oblate Sisters
of Providence Convent, in Baltimore, June 5, 1829, under the hearty approbation of the Most
Rev. Jumes Whitfield, D, D., the Archbishop of Baltimore at that time, and receiving the
sanction of the Holy See, October 2 1831. 'The convent originated with the French Fathers,
who came to Baltimore from San Dommgo as refugees, in the time of the revolution in that
island in the latter years of last\century There were many colored Catholic refugees who
came to Baltimore during that period, and the French Fathers soon opened schools there for
the benefit of the refugees and other colored people. The colored women who formed the origi-
nal society which founded the convent and seminary, were from San Domingo, though they ha:l
some of them, cortainly, beon educated in France. The schools which preceded the organiza-
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tion of tho convent were greatly favored by Most Rev. Ambrose Marechal, D. D., who wass
I'rench Father, and Archbishop'of Baltimore from 1817, to 1828, Archbishop Whitfield being
his suceessor.  The Sistors of Providenco is the name of a religious society of colored women
who renounce the world to consecrate themselves to the Christian education of colored girls,
The fullowing extract from the anmouncement which, under the caption of ** Prospectus of a
School for Colored Girls under the dire:tion of the Sisters of Providence,’ appeared in the
coluinns of the duily National Intelligencer, October 25 1831, shows the spirit in which the
school originated, and at the samo time shadows forth the predominating ideas pertaining to
the provinee of the race at that period. The prospectus says:

**'Tho ohject of this institute is one of great importance, greater, indeed, than might at firgt
appear to those who would only glance at the advantages which it is calculated to directly
impart to the leading portion of the human race and through it to society at large. In
fuet, these girls will either hecome mothers of families or household servants. In the first
caso the solid virtues, the religious and moral principles which they may have acquired in
this school, will be carefully transferred as a legacy to their children.  Instances of the happy
influence which the example of virtuous parents has on the remotest lineage in this humble
and naturally dutiful class of society are numerous. As to such as are to bo employed as
servants, they will be intrusted with domestic concerns and the care of young children,
How important then it will be that these girls shall have imbibed religious principles and
have been trained up in habits of modesty, honesty, and integrity.”

It is impossiblo to conceive of language fuller of profound and mournful import than are
these humble, timid words of this little band of colored women, who thus mado known the
exalted scheme to which they had given themselves. Why this tone of apolugy for embark-
ing in as noble a service as ever entered into the plans of a company of women upon the face
of the carth, the attempt to lift the veil of thoral and intellectual darkness which they saw
everywhere resting like death upon their sex and raco?

The sisters purchased o three-story brick building on Richmond street, in which they
started their worlk, but have since, in the admirable success of their enterprise, built large and
ample structures, and their school was never in more efficient operation than at the present
time.  1rom the first it has been through all its years, almost forty in number, a well-appointed
femalo seminary, amply supplied with cultivated and capnble teachers, who have given good
training in all the branches of a refined and useful education, including all that is usually
taught in well regulated female seminaries.  The number of Sisters connected with the con-
vent and seminary has for very many years ranged from 30 to 35.  The academy has always
been well patronized, comprising girls from every part of the south as well before as since the
war.  The number the pust year was some 170, of which about 45 were boarders, a large
nber being from Washington and Georgetown.  Attached to the convent, also, is a fres
school for girls and an orphan asylum, and till last year they had for many years maintained
also a school for boys. In 1862 sume of these Sisters established a fomale seminary in Phils-
delphin, which has been very successful.  There is also a colored female school in Washington
under the care and instruction of teachers formerly attached to this sisterhood. For nearly
a quarter of a century this seminary at Baltimore was the school in which the most of the
coloved girls of this District, who were so fortunute as to receive any of the rofinements of school
culture, resorted for their training from the founding of the convent down to 1852, when

MISS MYRTILLA MINER’S SEMINARY

for colored girls was initiated in Washington. This philanthropic woman was bomn in
Brookfield, Madison county, New York, in 1815. Her pareuts were farmers, with smsll
resources for the support of a large family. The children were obliged to work, aud the
small advantages ot & common school were all the eJucational privileges furnished to them.
Hop-raising was o feature in their farming, and this daughter was accustomed to work in
the autumn, picking the hops. She was of & delicate physical organization, and suffered
oxceedingly all ber life with spinal troubles. Beiug a girl of extraordinary intellectusl
activity, her place at home chated hor spirit. She was restless, dissatisfied with her lot,
looked higher than her father, dissented from his ideas of woman’s education, and, in ber
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desperation, when about 23 years old, wrote to Mr. Seward, then recently elevted governor
of her State, asking him if he could show her how it was possible for a woman in her cir-
cumstances to become & scholur; receiving from him the reply that he could not, but hoped
a better day was coming, wherein woman might have a chance to be and to do to the extent
of her abilities. Hearing at this time of a school at Clinton, Oneida county, New York,
for young women, on the manual-labor system, she decided to go there; but her health
being such as to make manual labor impossible at the time, she wrote to the principai of the
Clover-street Seminary, Rochester, New York, who generously received her, taking her
notes for the school bills, to be paid after completing her education, Grateful for this noble
act, she afterwards sent her younger sister there to be educated, for her own associate as a
teacher; and the death of this talented sister, when about to graduate and come as her
assistant in Waghington, fell upon her with crushing force. In the Rochester school, with
Myrtilla Miner, were two free colored girls, and this association was the first circumstance
to turn her thoughts to the work to which she gave her life. From Rochester she went to
Mississippi, as s teacher of planters’ daughters, and it was what she was compelled to see,
in this situation, of the drendful practices and conditions of slavery, that filled her soul with
a pity for the colored race and & detestation of the system that bound them, which held pos-
session of her to the last duy of her life.  She remained there several years, till her indignant
utterances, which she would not witbhhold, compelled her employer, fearful of the results,
to part reluctantly with a teacher whom he valued. She came home broken down with
gickness, cansed by the harassing sights and sounds that she had witnessed in plantation
life, and while in this condition she made a1 solemn vow that whatever of 1Ho remained to
her should be given to the work of ameliorating the condition of the colored people. Here
her great work begins.  She made up her mind to do something for the education of free
colored girls, with the idea that through the influence of eduncated colored women she could
lay the solid foundations for the disenthralment of their race. She selected this Distriet for
the ficld of her efforts, because it was the common property of the nation, aud because the
laws of the District gave her the right to educate free colored children, and she attempted
to teach none others. She opened her plan to many of the leading friends of freedom, in
an extensive correspondence, but found especially, at this time, a wise and warm encourager
and counsellor in her scheme in William R. Smith, a Friend, of Farmivugton, near Rochester,
New York, in whose family she was now a private teacher. Her correspondents generally
gave her but little encouragement, but wished her God speed in what she should dare in the
good canse. One Friend wrote her from Philadelphia, entering warmly into her scheme,
but advised her to wait till funds could be collected. ¢ I do not want the wealth of Creesus,”
was her reply; and the Friend sent her $100, and with this capital, in the autumn of 1851,
she came to Washington to establish a Normal school for the education of colored girls,
having associated with her Miss Anna Inman, an accomplished and benevolent lady of the
Society of Friends, from Southfield, Rbode Island, who, however, after teaching a class of
colored grivls in French, in the house of Jonathan Jones, on the Island, through the winter,
returned to New England. In the autumn of 1851 Miss Miner commenced her remarkable
work here in a small room, about fourteen feet square, in the frame house then, as now,
owned and occupied by Edward C. Younger, a colored man, as his dwelling, on Eleventh
street, near New York avenue. With but twn or three girls to open the school, she soon
had a room-full, and to secure larger accommodation moved, after a couple of months, to a
house on F street north, between Eighteenth and Nincteenth streets west, near the houses
then occupied by William T. Carroll and Charles H. Winder. This house furnished her a
very comfortable room for her school, which was composed of well-behaved girls, from the
best colored families of the District. The persecution of those neighbors, however, com-
pelled her to leave, as the colored family, who occupied the house, was threatened with con-
flagration, and after one month her little school found a more unmolested home in the dwel-
ling-house of a German family on K street, near the Western market.  After tarrying a few
months here, she moved to L street, into a room in the building known as **The Two Sis-
ters,” then occupied by a white family. She now saw that the success of her school
demanded a school-house, and in reconnoitering the ground ske found a spot suiting her
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ideus as to size and locality, with a house on it, and in the market at & low price. S8he
raised the money, secured the spot, and thither, in the summer of 1851, she moved her school,
where for seven years she was destined to prosecute, with the most unp-ralleled energy and
conspicuous success, her remarkable enterprise. This lot, comprisiug an entire square ot
three acres, between Nineteenth and Twentieth streets west, N and O streets north, and New
Hampshire avenue, selected under the guidance of Miss Miner, the contract being perfected
through the agency of Sayles J. Bowen, Thomas Williamson, and Allen M. Gangewer, was
originally conveyed in trust to Thomas Williamson and Samuel Rhoades, of the Society of
Friends, in Philudelphis. 1t was purchased of the executors of the will of John Tayler,
for §4,000, the deed being executed June 8, 1853, the estimated valuo of the property now
being not less than $30,000, The money was mainly contributed by Friends, in Philadel-
phiu, New York, and New England, Catharine Morris, a Friend, of Philadelphia, was a
liberal benefuctor of the enterprise, ndvancing Miss Miner 82,000, with which to completo
the purchase of the lot, the most, if not all which sum, it is believed, she ultimatcly gave to
the institution; and Tlarriet Beecher Stowe was another generous friend, who gave her
money and her heart to the su’ »ort of the hrave woman who had been willing to go forth
alone at the eall of duty. Mr. Rhoades, some years editor of the Friends' Quarterly Review,
died several years ago, near Philadelphia. Mr. Williamson, a conveyancer in that city, and
father of Pussmore Williamson, is still living, but some years ago declined the place of trustee,
- The board, at the dateof theact of incorporation, cousisted of Benjamin Tatham, a Friend, of
New York city, Mrs. Naney M. Johnson, of Washington, and Myrtilla Miner, and the transfer
of the property to the incorporated hody was made n few weeks prior to Miss Miner’s death.
This real estate, together with a fund of $4,000 in government stocks, is now in the hands of a
corporate hody, under act of Congress approved March 3, 1863, and is styled ** The Institution
for the Education of Colored Youth in the District of Columbia.” The officers of the corporation
at this time are John C. Underwood, president; Francis G Shaw, treasurer; George E.
Baker, secretary; whe, with Nancy M. Johnson, S. J. Bowen, Henry Addison, and Rachel
Howland, constitute the executive committee. The purpose of the nurchase of this property
is declared, in o paper signed by Mr. Williamson and Mr, Rhoades, dated Philadelphia,
June 8, 1838, to have been *‘especially for the education of colored girls.”

This paper also declares that ‘‘the grounds were purchased at the special instance of
Myrtilla Miner,” and that * the contributions by which the original price of said lot, and
also the cost of the subsequent improvements thereof, were procured chiefly by her instru-
mentality and labors.” The idea of Miss Miner in planuuy a school here was to train up a class
ot colored girls, in the midst of slave institutions, who should show forth, in their culturo
and capabilities, to the country and to mankind, that the race was fit for something higher
than the degradation which rested upou them. The amazing energy with which this frail
woman prosccuted her work is well known to those who took knowledge of her career.
She visited the colored people of ler district from house to house, and breathed a new life
into them pertaining to the education of their daughters. Her correspondence with the
philanthropic men and women of the north was immense. She importuned congressmen,
and the men who shaped public sentiment through the columns of the press, to como into
her school and see her girls, and was ceaseless in her activities day and night, in every
direction, to build up in dignity and refinement her seminary, and to force its merits upon
public attention.

The buildings upon the lot when purchused —a small frame dwelling of two stories,
not more than twenty-five by thirty-five feet in dimensions, with three small cabins on
the other side of the premises—served for the seminary and the home of the teacher and her
assistant.  The most aspiring and decently bred colored girls of the District were gathered
into the school; and the very best colored teachers in the schools of ‘he District, at the pre-
sent time, are among those who owe their education to this self-sacrificing teacher and her
school. Mrs. Means, aunt of the wife of General Pierce, then President of the United States,
atracted by the enthusiasm of this wonderful person, often visited her in the midst of ber
work with the kindest feclings, and the fact that the carriage from the Presidential mansion
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was in this way frequently seen at the door of this humble institutien did much to protect
it from the hatred with which it was surrounded.

Mr. Seward and his family were very often seen at the school, both Mrs, Seward and
her daughter, Fanny, being constant visitors; the latter, a young gjrl at the time, often
spending & whole day there. Many other congressmen of large and gonerous instincts,
some of them of pro-siavery party relations, went out there—all confessing their admiration
of the resolute woman and her school, and this kept evil men in abeyance.

The opposition to the school throughout the District was strong and very general among
the old as well as the young. Even Walter Lonox, who as mayor, when the school was first
started, gave the teacher assurances of favor in her work, came out in 1857, following the
prevailing current of depraved public sentiment and feeding its tide, in an elaborate article
in the National Intelligencer, under his own signature, assailed the school in open and
direct Janguage, urging against it that it was raising the standard of education among the
coloved population, and distinctly declaring that the white population of the District would
not be just to themselves to permit the continuance of an institution which had the temerity
to extend to the colored peopls ‘‘a degree of instruction so far beyond their social and
political condition, which condition must continue,” the article goes on to say, ‘‘in this
and every other slave-holding community.”  This article, though franght with extreme ideas
and to the last degree prosceiptive and inflammatory, neither stirred any open violence nor
deterred the courageous woman in the slightest degreo from her work. When madmen
went to her school-room threatening her with personal violence, she laughed them to shamo;
and when they threatened to burn her house, sho told them that they could not stop her in
that way, as another house, better than the old, would immediately rise from its ashes.

The house was set on fire in the spring of 1860, when Miss Miner was aslecp in the second
story alone, in the night time, but the smell of tho smoke awakened her in time to save
the building and herself from the flames, which were extinguished. The school girls, also,
were constantly at the merey of coarse and insulting boys along the streets, who would often
gather-in gangs before the gate to pursue and terrify these inoffensive children, who were
striving to gather wisdom and understanding in their little sanctuary. The police took no
cognizance of such brutality in those days. DBut their dauntless teacher, uncompromising,
enuscientious, and self-possessed in her aggressive work, in no manser turned from her
course by this persecution, was, ou the other hand, stimulated thereby to higher vigilance
and energy in her great undertuking. 'he course of instruction in the school was indeed of
# higher order than had hitherto been opened to the colored people of the District, as was
denounced against the school by Walter Lenox in his newspaper attack. Lectures upon
scientific and literary subjects were given by professional and literary gentlemen, who were
friends to the cause. The spacious grounds afforded to each pupil an ample space for a
Hower bed, which she was enjoined to cultivate with her own hands and to thoroughly study.
And an excellent library, & collection of paintings and engravings, the leading magazines
and choice newspapers, were gathered and sccured for the Lumble home of learning, which
was all the while filled with students, the most of whom were bright, ambitious girls, com-
posing o female colored school, which, in dignity and usefulness, has had no equal in the
District since that day. Tt was her custom to gather in her vacations and journeys not only
money, but everything else that would be of use in her school, and in this way she not
only colleeted books, but maps, globes, philosophical and chemical and mathematical
apparatus, and a great variety of things to aid in her instruction in illustrating all branches
of knowledge. This collection was stored in the school building during the war, and was
damaged by neglect, plundered by soldiers, and what remains is not of much value. The
clegunt sofa-hedstead which she used during all her years in the seminary, and which would
be an interesting possession for the seminary, was sold, with her other personal effects, to
Dr. Carrie Brown, (Mrs. Wiunslow,) of Washingtou, one of her bosom friends, who stood
at her pillow when she died. ,

Her plan embraced the erection of spacious structures, upon the site which had been most
admirably chosen, complete in all their appointmeuts*for the full accommodation of a school
of one huni]red and fifty boarding scholars. The seminary was to be a Female College,
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endowed with all the powers and professorships belonging to a first-class college for the other
gex. She did not contemplate its springing up into such proportions, like a mushroom, in a
single night, but it was her ambition tbat the institution should one day attain that rank.
In the midst of her anxious, incessant labors her physical system began so sensibly to
fail, that in the summer of 1858, under the counsel of the friends of herself and her cause,
sho went north to seek health, and, as usual in all her journeys, to beg for her seminary,
leaving her girls in the care of Emily Howland, a noble young woman, who came down here
for the love of the cause, without money and without price, from the vicinity of Auburn,
Now York. In the autumn Miss Miner returned to her school; Miss Howland still con-
_ tinuing with her through the winter, a companion in her trials, aiding her in her duties,
and cousenting to take charge of the school again in the summer of 1859, while Miss
Miner was on another journey for funds and health. In the autumn of that year, after
returning from her journey, which was not very successful, she determined to suspend the
school, and to go forth to the country with a most persistent uppeal for money to erect &
seminary building, as she had found it impossible to get a house of any character started
with the means already in her hands. She could get no woman, whom she deemed fit to
take her work, willing to continue her school, and in the spring of 1860, leasing the premises,
she went north on her errand. In the ensuing year she traversed many States, but the
shadow of the rebellion was on her path, and she gathered neither much money nor much
strength. The war came, and in October, 1862, Loping, not vainly, for health from o sea
voyage and from the Pacific climate, she sailed from New York to California. When about
to return, in 1866, with vivacity of body and spirit, she was thrown from a carriage in a fear-
ful manner; blighting sll the high hopes of resuming her school under the glowing auspices
she had anticipated, as she suw the rebellion and the hated system tumbling to pieces. She
arnved in New York in August of that year in a most shattered condition of body, though
with the fullest confidence that she should speedily be well and at her work in Wash.
ington. In the first duys of December she came here in a dying condition, still resolute
to resume her work ; was carried to the residence of her tried friend, Mrs. Nancy M. John-
son, and on the tenth of that month, surrounded by the friends who had stood with herin
other days, she put off her wasted and wearied body in the city which had witnessed her
trials and her triumphs, and her remains slumber in Oak Hill cemetery.

Her seminary engaged her thoughts to the last day of her life, She said in her last hours
that she had come back here to resume her work, and could not leave it thus unfinished.
No marble marks the resting place of this truly wonderful woman, but her memory is cor-
tainly held precious in the hearts of her throngs of pupils, in the hearts of the colored
people of this District, and of all who took knowledge of her life and who reverence the
cause in which she offered herself a willing sacrifice. Her assistants in the school were
Helen Moore of Washington, Margaret Clapp and Amandas Weaver of New York State,
Anna H. Searing of New York State, and two of her pupils, Matilda Jones of Washington,
and Emwma Brown of Georgetown, both of whom, subsequently, through the influence of
Miss Miner and Miss Howland, finished their education at Oberlin, and have since been
most superior teachers in Washington, Most of the assistant teachers from the north were
from families connected with the Society of Friends, and it has been seen that the bulk of the
money came from that society, This sketch would be incomplete without a special tribute
to Lydis B, Mabn, sister of Horace Mann, who came here in the fall of 1856, from the Col-
ored Female Orphan Asylum of Providence, R. L., of which she was then, as she continues
to be, the admirable superintendent, and, as a pure labor of love, took care of the school
in the most superior mauner through the autumn and winter, while Miss Miner was north
recruiting her strength and pleading for contributions. It was no holiday duty to go into that
school, live in that building, and work alone with head and hands, as was done by all these
refined and educated women, who stood from time to time in that humble persecuted semi-
nary. Miss Mann is gratefully remembered by her pupils here and their friends.

Mention should also be made of Exmly Howland, who stood by Miss Miner in her
darkest days, and whose whole heart \vas with her in all her work. She is a women of the
largest and most self-sacrificing purposes, who has been and still is giving her best years, all
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her powers, talents, learning, refinement, wealth, and personal toil, to the education and
elevation of the colored race. While here she adopted, and subsequently educated in the
best manner, one of Miss Miner's pupils, and assisted several others of her smart gitls in
completing their education at Oberlin, During the war she was teaching contrabands in
the hospital and the camp, and is now engaged in planting & colony of colored people In
Virginia with homes and a schoolshouse of their own.

A seminary, such as was embraced in the plan of Miss Miner, is exceedingly demanded by
the interests of colored female education in this District and the country at large, and any
scheme by which the foundations that she laid so well may become the seat of such a school,
would be heartily approved by all enlightened friends of the colored race. 'The trus-
tees of the Miner property, not insensible of their responsibilities, have been carefully watch-
ing for the moment wheu action on their part would seem to be justified. They have repeatedly
met in regard to the matter, but, in their counsels, hitherto, have deemed it wise to wait further
developments. ‘They are now about to hold another meeting, it is understood, and it isto bo
devoutly hoped that some plan will be ndopted by which a school of a high order may be,
in due time, opened for colored girls in this District, who exceedingly neced the refining,
womanly training of such a school.*

The original corporators of Miss Miner’s Institution were Henry Addison, John C. Under-
wood, George C. Abbott, William H. Channing, Nancy M. Johnson, and Myrtilla Miner,
The objects as expressed in the charter ‘‘ are to educate and improve the moral and intel-
lectual condition of such of the colored youth of the nation as may be placed under its care
and influence.”

ARABELLA JONES'S SCHOOL.

About the time that Miss Miner commenced in the northern section of Washington, Miss
Arabella Jones, a colored girl, who had just returned from the St. Frances' Academy at Balti-
more, opened o fomale school on the island, called St. Agnes’ Academy. She had been
educated with the greatest care at home by her father, and had, besides, the benefit
of her mother's instruction, a woman of extraordinary native sense, who was for a brief
time a pupil of Mrs. Billing in her early girlhood, and from her youth through many yearsa
favorite servant in the family of John Quincy Adams, commencing when he was Secretary
of State. Miss Jones had a good English education, wrote and spoke with ease and pro-
priety the F'rench tongue, was proﬁéient in music and in all the useful and ornamental needle-
work branches. Her father, though & poor man, had on her return from school purchased
her a piano and a well-selected library, including o full set of the British poets in handsome
binding, bought in London expressly to his order, among which was a specially handsome
edition of Shakspeare, the favorite author of the daughter, who not only relished such
works, but showed taste and talent in her own poetic effusions, which oceasionally found their
way into the public press. She taught with great delight and success, for several years, till
better compensation was offered to her for her skill with the needle. She was a gir] of decided
talents, and had her high aims and education found & more fortunate field for display, she
would have done more for her sex than fell to her lot to do. In 1857 she was married, and
her subsequent life was clouded. She died in 1868 in the 34th year of her age, and was borme
to the tomb with distinguished marks of respect without distinction of class or color. At the
time of her death she had been appointed to a government clerkship.

MARY WORMLEY’S SCHOOL.

In 1830 William Wormley built a school-house for his sister Mary near the corner of Ver-
mont avenue and I street, where the restaurant establishment owned and occupied by his
brother, James Wormley, now stands. He had educated his sistor expressly for a teacher,
at great expense, at the Colored Female Seminary in Philadelphia, then in charge of Miss
Sarah Douglass, an accomplished colored lady, who is still a teacher of note in the Philadel-

* Since the above was v.vrmen, information has been received that Major General O, O. Howard has ten-
dered to the trustees & donation of $30,000 from the building fund of the Freedmen’s Bureau, aud that they
will immediately proceed to erect a firat-cluss buillding for a female college.
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phia Colored High School. William Wormley was at that time a man of wealth. His livory
stable, which occupied the place where the Owen House now stands, was one of the largest
snd best in the city. Miss Wormley had but just brought her school into full and successful
operation when her health broke down,and she lived scarcely two years. Mr. Calvert, an
English gentleman, still living in the first ward, taught a class of colored scholars in this
house for a time, and James Wormley was one of the class. In the autumn of 1834 William
~ Thomas Lee opened a school in the same place, and it was in a flourishing condition in the
fall of 1835, when the Snow mob dispersed it, sacking the school-hjuse, and partially
destroying it by fire. William Wormley was at that time one of the most enterprising and
influential colored men of Washington, and was the original agent of the Liberator news.
paper for this District. The mob being determined to lay hold of him and Lee, they fled from
the city to save their lives, returning when General Jackson, coming back from Virginia a
few days after the outbreak, gave notice that the fugitives should be protected. The perse-
cution of William Wormley was so violent and persistent that his health and spirits sank
under its effects, his business was broken up, and he died a poor man, scarcely owning a
shelter for his dying couch. ‘The sehool-house was repaired after the riot and occupied for a
time by Margaret Thompson’s school, and still stands in the rear of James Wormley’s res-
taurant. During this period, and for some ycars previous,

MRS. MARY WALL'S SCHOOL

was doing a great service to the colored people. Mrs. Wall, whose husband, Nicholas Wall,
died some years before she came to this District, was a member of the Society of Friends, and
a most benevolent, gentle, and refined woman. They were Virginians, and were reared in
affluence, but reverses at last limited her means, which she had used in her prosperous
days with open hand in works of benevolence and charity. In her widowhood she
left her native State, and gave much of her subsequent life to the education of the colored
children of this District. As early as 1824 she had a school in a house which then stood on
Tifteenth street, between the residences now owned by Senator Morgan and Representative
Hooper. 'This s¢ittui-raom was always crowded, and applications, by reason of limited room,
were often refused. The school-room accommodated about 40 pupils. She continued her
school here (uite & number of years, and some of the most intelligent and enterprising colored
men of Washington owe theé best part of their education {o this good woman, James Worm-
ley and John Thomas Johnson being of the number. Her high breeding and culture exerted
the most marked influence upor the children of poverty and ignorance whom she thus took
by the hand. Mauy colored people of this District remember her school and her loving kind-
ness, and bless her memory. Ske belonged to the class of southern prople, not small in her
time, who belicved in the education and improvement of the colored race. William Wall,
the distinguished merchant on Pennsylvania avenue, of the firm of Wall, Robmson & Co,,
is a son of this truly Christian lady.

BENJAMIN McCOY'S, AND OTHER SCHOOLS,

About this time another school was opened in Georgetown, by Naney Grant, a sister
of Mrs. William Becraft, a well-educated colored woman. She was teaching as ew.ly as
1828, and had a useful school for several years, BMr. Nuthall, an Englishman, was teach-
ing in Georgetown during this period and as late as 1833 he went to Alexandria and
opened a school in that city. William Syphax among others, now resident in Washington,
attended his school in Alexandria about 1833. He was a man of ability, well educated, and
ono of the best teachers of his time in the District. His school in Georgebown was at first
in Dunbarton street, and afterward on Montgomery. -

The old maxim that * the blood of the martyrs is the seed of the Church,” seems to find
its illustration in this history. "There is no period in the annals of the couniry in which the
fires of persecution against the education of the colored race burned more fiercely in this
District and the country at large than in the five years from 1831 to 1836, and it was during
this period that a larger number of respectable colored schools were established than in any
other five years prior to the war. In 1833, the same year in which Ambush’s school was
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started, Benjamin M. McCoy, a colored man, opened a school in the northern part of the
city, on L street, between Third and Fourth streets west. In 1834 he moved to Massachu-
setts avenue, continuing his school there till he went to Lancaster county, Pennsylvania,
in the autumn of 1838, to finish the engagement of Rev. John F. Cook, who came back to
Washington at that time and re-opened his school. The school at Lancaster was a free
public colored school, and Mr. McCoy was solicited to continue another year, but declining,
came back, aud in 1837 opened a school in the basement of Asbury charch, which, in that
room and in the house adjoining, he maintained with great success for the ensuing 12 years.
Mr. McCoy was a pupil of Mrs. Billing and Henry Smothers, is & man of good sense, and
his school gave a respectable rudimental education to multitudes, who remember him as &
teacher with great respect. He i3 now a messonger in the Treasury Department. In 1833
a school was established by Fanny Hampton, in the western part of the city, on the north-
west corner of K and Nineteenth streets. It was a large school, and was continued till
about 1842, the teacher dying soon afterwards. She was half-sister of Lindsay Muse.
Margaret Thompson succeeded her, and had a flourishing school of some 40 scholars on
Twenty-sixth street, near the avenue, for several years, about 1846. She subsequently
became the wife of Charles H. Middleton, and assisted in his school for a brief time. About
1830 Robert Brown commenced a small school, and continued it at intervals for many years
till his death. As early as 1833, thero was & school opened in & private hounse in the rear of
Franklin row, near the location of the new Franklin school building. It was taught by a
white man, Mr Talbot, and continued a year or two. Mrs. George Ford, a white teacher, a
native of Virginia, kept a colored school in a brick house still standing on New Jersey
Avenue between K and L streets. She taught there many years, and as early perhaps as
half a century ago.

THOMAS TABBS'S SCHOOL

was an institution peculiar to itself. Mr. Tabbs belonged to a prominent Maryland family,
and was bred in affluence and received a thorough and polished education. He came to
Washington before the war of 1812, and resided here till his death, which occurred 10
years ago. He at once commenced teaching the colored people, and persistently con-
tinued to do so as long as he lived. He was called insane by some, but there was certainly
a method in his madness. When he could find a school-room he would gather a school, but
when less fortunate he would go from house to house, stopping where he could find a group
of poor colored children to instruct. At one period he had the shadow of a large tree near the
Masonic Lodge at the Navy Yard for his school, and it was there that Alexander Hays, after-
wards & teacher in Washington, but then a slave, learned his alphabet. Mr. Tabbs must
have spent nearly fifiy years in this mode of life, and there are many colored people, well
advanced in years, who owe their tolerable education to the instruction of this kind-hearted,
singular man. At one time he had a school on A street south, between Seventh and Eighth
streets east, and at another had a large school, with an assistant, in the Israel Bethel church.
He was an upright man, and the colored people of the older class in the eastern section of
Washington remember him with respect and gratitude.

DR. JOHN H. FLEET'S SCHOOL

was opened iu 1836, on New York avenue, in a school-house which stood nearly on the spot
now occupied by the Richards buildings at the corner of New York avenue and Fourteenth
street. It had been previously used for a white school, taught by Mrs, McDaniel, and was sub-
sequently again so used. Dr. Fleet was a native of Georgetown, and was greatly assisted in
his education by the late Judge James Morsell, of that city, who was not only kind to this
family, but was always regarded by the colored people of the District as their firm fiiend
and protector. John H. Fleet, with his brothers and sisters, went to the Georgetown Lan-
casterian school, with the white children, for a long period, in their earlier school days, and sub-
sequently to other white schools. He was also for a time & pupil of Smothers and Prout. Ife
was possessed of a brilliant and stroug intellect, inherited frou: his father, who was a white man
of distinguished abilities. He studied medicine in Washington, in the office of Dr. Thomas
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Henderson, who had resigned as assistant surgeon in the army, and was a practising physician
of eminence iu Washington. He also attended medical lectures at the old Medical College, cor-
ner of Tenth and E streets. It was his intention at that time to go to Liberia, and bis professional
education was conducted under the auspices of the Colonization Society. This, with the
influence of Judge Morsell, gave him privileges never extended here to any other colored
man. He decided, however, not to go to Liberia, and in: 1836 opened his school. He was
a 1efined and polished gentleman, and conceded to be the foremost colored man in culture,
in intellectual force, and general influence in this District at that time. Ilis school-house,
vu New York avenue, was burned by an incendiary about 1843, and his flourishing and
excellent school was thus ended.  For a time he subsequently taught music, in which he
wis very proficient; but about 1846 he opened a school o1 School-house hill, in the Hob-
brook Military School building, near the corner of N street sorth and Twenty-third street
west, and had a large school there till about 1851, when Le relinauished the business, giving
his attention henceforth exclusively to music, and with eminent scecess. He died in 1861,
His school was very large and of a superior character. One of his daughters is now a
teacher in one of the public schools. While Dr. Fleet was teaching on School-house bill,

JOIIN THOMAS JOHNSON'S SCHOOL,

on Twenty-third street west, near L north, in the same neighborhood, was also in very
flonrishing operation. Mr. Johnson isa well-known employ¢ at the Capitol at the present time,
He was born and educated in this District, and is & man of intelligence and foree of character,
He was o pupil of Mrs. Wall, of whose character, as an accomplished teacher and woman,
he speaks with the deepest respect. He was also a scholar in Smothers's school and in
Prout’s. In 1838, when the persecution of the colored prople of the District was still raging,
he left the city, and on his route west, in search of a more tolerant latitude, stopped at
Pittsburg, Pa., where, at the suggestion of Rev. John Peck and J. B. Vashon, esq., he
offered himself as a candidate for teacher of the First District school of that city, He had
two white competitors. The examination before the board of school managers resulted in
the declaration that he was the best qualified for the place, and he ag¢cordingly took the
position, and taught with eminent success for several years, to the astonishment and admira.
tion of a}l interested in the school. e finally vesigned his place for & more lucrative posi-
tion as a steward on s Mississippi stewmmer.  In 1543 he came back to his native city, and
started a school, as stated in the commencement of this notice, wigh a zeal and boldness
equalled by few of the most courageous of the colored men at that time, when their school-
houses were at the merey of the mob.  Shiclded by no law, he built a school-house and
gathered a school, which, commencing with half a dozen, soon became very large—
oucenumbering as high as 200 and more, und averagiug from 150 to 170 well-dressed and well-
behaved chilidren, many of whom, now men and wouwssn grown, are among the best colored
people of this District.  He coutinued his school down to 1849, when he relinquished a work
in which he had uniformly achieved decided success.  As he was about to retire from the
field,

CHARLES H. MIDDLETON’S SCHOOL

was started, in the same scetion of the city, in a school-house which then stood near the
corner of Twenty-sceond street west and I north, and which had been used by Henry Hardy
for a white school.  Though both Fleet’s and Jolingon’s schools were in full tide of success in
that vicinity he gathered a good school, and when his two competitors yetived—as they both
did about this time —his school absorbed a large portion of their patronage and was thronged.
In 1252 o went temporarily with hisschool to Sixteenth street, and thonce to the basement of
Uuion Bethel church on M street, near Sixteenth, in which, during the administration of
President Pierce, he had an exceedingly large and excellent school, at the same period when
Miss Miner was prosecuting her signal work, Mr. Middleton, now a messenger in the
Navy Depurtment, a native of Savanuah, Ga., is free-born, and received his very good
education in schools in that city, sometimes with white and sometimes with colored children.
‘When he commenced his school he had just returned from the Mexican war, and his enter-
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prise is especially worthy of being made prominent, not only because of his high style as a
teacher, but also because it is associated with

THE FIRST MOVEMENT FOR A FREE COLORED PUBLIC SCHOOL.

This movement originated with a city officer, Jesse E. Dow, who, in 1848 and 1849, was
a leading and influential member of the common council. He encouraged Mr. Middleton
to start his school, by assuring him that he would give all his influence to the establishment
of free schools for colored as wall as for white children, and that he had great confidence
that the councils would be brought to give at least some encouragement to the enterprise.
In 1850 Mr. Dow was named among the ~andidates for the mayoralty, and when his views
in this regard were assailed by his oppenents, he did not hesitate to boldly avow his opinions,
and to declare that he wished no support for any office which demanded of him any modifi-
cation of these couvictions, The workmen fail, but the work succeeds. Tho name of Jesse
E. Dow merits conspicuous record in this history for this bold and magnanimous action.
M. Middleton received great assistance in building up his school from Rev. Mr. Wayman,
then pastor of the Bethel church, and afterwards promoted to the bishopric. The school
was surrendered finally to Rev. J. V. B, Morgan, the succeeding pastor of the church, who
conducted the school as a part of the means of his livelihood.

ALEXANDER CORNISH AND OTHERS.

In the eastern section of the city, about 1840, Alexander Cornish had a school several
years in hig own house on D street south, between Third and Fourth east, with an average of
40 scholars. He was succeeded, about 1846, by Richard Stokes, who was a native of Chester
County, Pa. His school, averaging 150 scholars, was kept in the Israel Bethel church,
near the Capitol, and was continued for about six years, In 1840 there was a school opened
by Margaret Hill in Georgetown, near Miss English’s seminary. She taught a very good
school for several years.

ALEXANDER HAYS'S SCHOOL,

was started on Ninth street west, near New York avenue. Mr. Hays was born 1n 1802, and
belonged originally to the Fowler family in Maryland, When a boy he served for a time at
the Washington Navy Yard, in the family of Captain Dove, of the navy, the father of Dr.
Dove, of Washington, and it was in that fumily that he learned to read. Michael Tabbs
had a school at that time at the Navy Yard, which he taught in the afternoons under a large
tree, which stood near the old Masonic Hall. The colored children used to meet him there
in large numbers daily, and while attending this singular school, Hays was at the same time
tanght by Mrs. Dove, with her children. This was half a century ago. In 1826 Hays went
tolive in the family of R. 8. Coxe, the eminent Washington lawyer, who soon purchased
him, vaying Fowler $300 for him. Mr, Coxe did this at the ¢xpress solicitation of IHays,
and 17 years after he gave him his freedom—in 1843, While living with Mr. Coxe he had
married Matilda Davis, the daughter of John Davis, who served as steward many ycars in
the family of Mr. Seaton, of the National Intelligencer. The wedding was at Mr. Seaton’s
residence, and Mr. Coxe and family were present on the occasion. In 1836 he bought the
house and lot which they stitl own and occupy, and in 1842, the year before he was free,
Hayn made his last payment and the place was conveyed to his wife. Shewas a free woman,
and had opened a school in the house in 1841, Hays had mauny privileges while with Mr,
Coxe, and with the proceeds of his wife’s school they paid the purchase money (§550) and
interest in seven years. Mr. Hays was taught reading, writing, and arithmetic by Mr. Coxe,
his wife, and daughters, while a slave in their family. When the colored people were driven
from the churches, in the years of the mobs, Mrs. Coxe organized a large colored Sabbath
school in lier own parlor, and maintained it for a long period, with the co-operation of Mr.
Coxe and the daughters. Mr. Hays was a member of this school. He also attended day
schools, when his work would allow of it. This was the education with which, in
1845, he ventured to take his wife's school in charge. He is a man of good sense, and his
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school flourished. He put up an additien to his house, in order to make room for hs
increasing school, which was continued down to 1R57-—16 years from its opening. He bad
also o night school and taught musiec, and these two features of his school he has revived
since the war, This school contained from 35 to 45 pupils. Rev. Dr. S8amson, Mr. Seaton,
and Mr. Cexe often visited bis school and encouraged him in his excellent work. Thomas
Tahbs used also to come into his school and give him aid and advice, a3 also did John
MecIeod. )
JOSEPH T. MASON'3 SCHOOL, IN GEORGETOWN,

was established iu 1840, in the rear of Mount Zion churel, in a house near where the large free
achool building for colored children now stands. Mr. Mason was a scholar in Prout’s school,
and in that of the elder Cook. He was an admirable disciplinarian, and his schooel, which
rarely fell below a hundred members, was conducted with more than common system and
thoroughness for more than a quarter of a century, until he became insane, a year or two
before the war.

THOMAS H, MASON’S SCHOOL

was commenced in 1859, in his father’s house, on L near Twenty-first street west, and has
continued without interruption to the present time. This school, prior to the war, averaged
about 100, but during and since the war it has been about 50, He is well educated and s
very excellent teacher, was a scholar under both Johusen and Fleet, and finished his educa-
tion at Oberlin. His father was a cousin to Joseph T'. Mason.

MR. AND MRS. FLETCIIER'S SCHOOL

was opened about 1854, in the building in which Middleton first taught, on I near Twenty-
second street. Mr. Fletcher was an Englishman, & well-educated gentleman, and a thor-
ough teacher. He was induced to open the school by the importunities of some aspiring
colored young men in that part of the city, who desired first-rate instruction. He soon
became the object of persecution, though he was a maun of courtesy and excellent character,
His school-house was finally set on fire and consumed, with all its books and furniture ; but ..
the school took, as its asylum, the basement of the John Wesley Church. The churches
which they had been forced to build in the days of the mobs, when they were driven from
the white churches which they had aided in building, proved of immense service to them
in their subsequent struggles. Mrs. Fletcher kept a variety store, which was destroyed
about the time the school was opened. She then became an assistant in her husband’s
schiool, which numbered over 150 pupils. In J1858 they were driven from the city, as perse-
cution at that time was particularly violent against all white persons who instructed the
colored people. This school was conducted with great thoroughness, and had two depart-
ments, Mrs, t'letcher, who was an accomplished person, having eharge of the girls in &
separate room.

ELIZA ANNE COOK,

a niece of Rev. John F, Cook, and one of his pupils, who has been teaching for about 15 years,
should be mentioned. She attended Miss Miner's school for a time, and was afterwards
at the Baltimore convent two years. She opened a school in her mother’s house, and sub-
sequently built a small school-house on the same lot, Sixteenth street, between K and L
streets. With the exception of three years, during which she was teaching in the free Catholic
school opened in the Smothers’ school-house in 1859, and one year in the female schoolin
charge of the colored sisters, she has maintained her own private school from 1854 down to the
present time, ber number at some periods being above G0, but usually - ot more than 25 or 30.

MISS WASHINGTON’S SCHOOL.

In 1857 Annie E. Washington opened a select primary school in her mother’s house, oz K
street, between Seventeenth and Eighteenth streets west. The mother, a widow womay, i8
a laundress, and by her own labor has given her children good advantages, though she had
no such advantages herself. This duughter was educated chiefly under Rev. Johu I, Covk
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and Miss Miner, with whom she was a favorite acholat, Her older sister was educeted
at the Baltimore convent. Annie E. Washington is a woman of native refinement, and has
an excellent aptitnde for teaching, as well as a good education. Her schools have always
been conducted with system and superior judgment, giving universal satisfuction, the num
ber of her pupils being limited only by the size of her room. In 1858 she moved to the base-
ment of the Baptist church, corner of Nineteenth and I streets, to secure larger accommoda-
tions, and there she had a school of more than 60 scholars for several years.

, A FREE CATHOLIC COLORED SCHOOL.

A free school was established in 1858 and maintained by the 8t. Vincent do Paul Society,
an association of colored Catholics, in connection with the St. Matthew's church. It was
organized under the direction of Father Walter and kept in the Smothers’ school-house for
two years, and was subsequently for one season maintained on a smaller scale in a house on
L, street, between Twelfth and Thirteenth strects west, till the association failed to give it the
requisite pecuniary support after the war broke out. This school has already been mentioned.

OTHER SCNOOLS.

In 1843, Elizabeth Smith commenced a school for small children on the Island in Wash-
ington, and subsequently taught on Capitol hill. In 1860 she was the assistant of Rev,
Wm, H, Hunter, who had a large school in Zion Wesley church, Georgetown, of which he
was the pastor, She afterwards took the school into her own charge for a penod and taught
among the contrabands in various places during the war.

About 1850 Isabella Briscoe opened & school on Montgomery street near Mount Zion
church, Georgetown. She was well educated and one of the best colored teachers in the
District before the rebellion. Her school was always well patronized, and she continued
teaching in the District up to 1868,

Charlotte Beams had a large school for & number-of years, as early as 1850, in a building
next to Galbraith chapel, I street north, between Fourth and Fifth west. It was exclusively
a gitl’s school in its latter years. The teacher was a pupil of Enoch Ambush, who assisted
her in establishing her school.

A year or two later Rev, James Shorter had a large school in the Israel Bethel church,
and Miss Jackson taught another good school on Capitol Hill about the same time. The
above mentioned were all colored teachers,

Among the excellent schools broken up at the opening of the war was that of Mrs. Char-
lotte Gordon, colored, on Eighth strect, in the northern section of the city. It was in suc-
cessful operation several years, and the number in attendance sometimes reached 150, Mrs.
Gordon was assisted by her daughter.

Iu 1841 David Brown commenced teaching on D street south, between First and Second
streets, island, and continued in the business till 1858, at which period he was placed in
charge of ihe large Catholic free school, in the Smothers house, as has been stated.

CIlURCllIiS, PAROCHIAL AND SUNDAY SCHOOLS.

No religious scet has, from the earliest history of this District, exhibited so true a Christian
spirit towards the colored people as the Catholic. In Georgetown, Rev. Leonard Neale,
D.D., the archbishop, who resided there at an early period, and his brother, Rev, Francis
Neale, the founder and first pastor of Holy Trinity church, and Father Van Lommel, pastor
of the same church in 1527, were all friends of the poor, showing no distinction on account
of color, They established schools and gathered to them the ignorant and poor, both white
and colored. Father Van Lommel himself taught a school in which the white and colored
children were instrucied together and gratuitously, in the house that Mrs. Commodore Decatuar
for many years afterwards occupied near the Georgetown college gate. That the Catholic
church was true to the Christian doctrine of the unity of the human race and the cquality of
all mankind before the altar of worship, was shown in the labors of theso representatives
of its priesthood. In 1837, when the pro-slavery spirit was enjoying its greatest triumph in
this country, Pope Gregory XVI issued bis famous anti-sluvery bull. He first quotes the
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bull of 1537, by Paul IIT, addressed to the Cardinal Archbishop of Toledo, and another, still
more comprehensive, by Urban VIII, of 1636, to the collector Jurius, of the Apostolic
Chamber of Portugal, *‘ most severely castigating, by name, those wio presumed to subject
eithor Eastor West Indians to slavery; tosell, buy, exchange, or give them away, to separate
them from their wives and children, despoil them of their goods and property, to bring or
transmit them to other places, or by any means deprive them of liberty, or retain them in
slavery,” and then procceds to reprobate, by ‘‘ apostolical authority, all the above-described
offences as utterly unworthy of the Christian name,” and, ** under the same authority, to
rigidly prohibit and interdict all and every individual, whether ecclesiastical or laical, from
presuming to defend that commerce in negro slaves,” and to declare that, after mature delib.
eration in council of their Eminences, the Cardinals of the Holy Catholic Church, he wag
admonished **to invoke in the Lord all Christians, of whatever condition, that none hence-
forth dare to subject to slavery, unjustly persecute, or despoil of their goods, Indians, negroes,
or other classes of men, or be accessories to others, or furnish them aid or assistance in so
doing.”

Father McElroy, now a resident of Boston, eighty-seven years old, whose life has been as
full of pious and benevolent deeds as it is of years, was the assistant pastor of Holy Trinity
chureh of Georgetown, D. C., with Father De Theux, who in 1817 succeeded Father Francis
Neale. In 1818 Father McElroy established a Sunday school for colored children, and labored
with the utimost devotion to gather the poor and dJespised children under his instruction,
The school was held Sunday afternoon, and was a large and interesting institution. It con-
tinued two hours each day, and the children were taught spelling, reading, writing and
christian doctrine, Young men and women of the first standing in Georgetown were the
teachers, under the superintendence of IFather McElroy, and the school was maintained with
great efficiency for many years, especially during the service of I'ather McElroy, who was
there five years, till he went to Frederick, Md., in 1822, 'There are many colored men and
women still living in this District, now furrowed and gray with age, who learned to read and
write in that school, including some who were slaves at the time.

The Catholic church was as free in all its privileges to ihe black worshipper as to the
white, and in the sanctuary there was no black gallery. It was so in St. Patrick’s church,
in Washington, under its founder, Father Matthew of blessed memory, who had the
friendship of Jefferson and other distinguished public men of his time, and who recognized
the poorest and most benightcd negro of his parish as inferior to none in all the privileges
and duties of the church. The colored people in those days, in all the Catholic churches,
not only knelt side by side with the highest personages, but the pews were also free to all.
Father John Donelan, the founder of St. Matthew’s church, was equally Christian in his
impartiality, and this has been the general treatment which the colored people have
received from the Catholic church, the cases in which a priest has attempted to make a
distinction having been very few and exceptional. The older and more intelligent colored
people of the District will fully sustain this statement. The Sisters of the convent in George.
town have also trained many colored girls in the refined and solid attainments of a guod
education. The parochial instruction of the churches has always embraced all the children,
and it is believed that St. Aloysius church, the last that was built before the war, has not
been in the least behind the earlier churches in this respeet. Colored people have always
hLeld pews there on the sume floor with the whites, and there is & large free female colored
school in the parochial school building connected with this church, in which there is also a
white female school numbering some 250 pupils, The St. Mary’s Catholic church at Alez-
andria in the earlier years manifested a similar Christian spirit, and has continued to do so.
The colored people occupied the same floor with the white, and the free pews were occupied
without discrimination of color.

When the colored people were excluded from all the Protestant churches of the District in
the years of the mobs, the Catholic people stood firm, allowing no molestation of their col
ored worshippers, When the Sabbath schools for colored children were broken up in every
Protestant church in the District, every Catbolic church steadily retained its colored child-
ren under the usual Sunday instruction, and these schools embraced all ages, from the mere
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child to the hoary head. The ahove brief statements will explain why the colored Catholics
here organized but one Catholic church, St. Martin’s, though forming a considerable part of
the colored population of the District.

The Protestant churches in the District, like the Catholic, seem at first to have had no
separate galleries; and children in the Sabbath school, white and colored, sat in the same
room on the same seats. This was the case in the First Baptist church in Washington,
which was established in 1802, but at a later day this was changed, the golleries being
assigned to the colored people. But most of the Protestant churches went so faras gradually
to limit them to the back seats in the galleries, which so mortified their sell-respect as to
drive them, in spite of their poverty, to build humble religious homes of their own., When
the new Baptist church was built on Tenth street, which was afterwards sold and converted
lnto a theatre, afterwards known as Ford's Theatre, the gallery wus given to the colored
people. This was satisfactory to the majority, but some of the more spirited chafed under
the new arrangement. Thke church, and its pastor, Rov. O. B. Brown, however, treated
their colored members and worshippers with Christian charity. The pastor was a large-
hearted Christian minister, who knew no distinction as to the color of a person’s skin at the
altar of worship. When they built on Tenth street, in 1833, the colored members bought
the old church, corner of Nineteenth and I streets, for a chapel, in which to hold their social
meetings. Soon afterwards they employed Rev. Mr, Nickens to preach for them temporarily,
which resulted in about thirty of the colored members seceding, and organizing a church by
themselves, These seceding members were expelled, and, as the church property was deeded
to the members of the church, & controversy arose as to the title to the house, which is still
litigated in chancery, between the mother church and her colored offspring.

Awmong the Methodists an alienation of feeling grew up at an carlier date than in the other
churches. As eaily as 1820 the colored members of the Ebenezer church, on Fourth street
cast, near Virginian avenue, erected a log building in that vicinity, not far from the present
0dd Fellows’ lodge, for their social religious meetings and Sabbath school. About the same
time some of the leading members, among them George Bell and George Hicks, already
mentioned, becoming dissatisfied with their treatment, withdrew and organized a church in
connection with the African Methodist Episcopal church. At first they worshipped in Basil
Sim's rope-walk, I'irst strect east, near Pennsylvania avenue, Lut subsequently in Rev. Mr,
Wheat's school-house on Capitol Hill, near Virgima aveuue. They finally purchased the old
First Presbyterian church, at foot of Capitol Hill, now known as the ¢ Israel Bethel African
Methodist Episcopal chureh,”’ Some years later other members of the old Ebenezer church
not liking their confined quarters in the gallery, and otherwise discontented, purchased a lot
corner of C street south and Fifth street cast, built a house of worship, and were organized
as the ** Little Ebenezer Methodist Episcopal church.,”  About the year 1325 a third coloniza-
tiou from the original Ebenezer church took place. Among other grievances, the colored
members were dissatisfied with their white pastors because they declined to take the colored
children in their arms when administering the rite of bhaptism. In 1839 this alienation grew
into an open rupture, when thirteen class leaders and one exhorter left the mother chureh,
and, after purchasing a lot on the Island, erccted a house and formed a colored church, inde-
pendent of the Methodist Episcopal body, under the name of the Wesley Zion church, and
cmployed a colored preacher. Among the prominent men in this separation, still living, were
Enoch Ambush, the well-known schoolmaster, and Antliony Bowen, who for many years
has been an estimable employé in the Department of the Iuterior. Mr. Bowen has been
a local preacher for forty years, and under his guidance the St. Paul's colored church on the
Island was organized, at first worshipping in E street chapel.

In a volume, by Rev. Benjumin T. Tauner, entitled **An Apology for African Methodism,*’
published in Baltimore in 1867, the stautement is made that while the Presbyterians, Lutherans,
Congregationalists, and others have opened their Theological schools and colleges to colored
men, the Methodist Episcopal denomination has refused them admission oven in cases where
the colored people have aided in establishing and supporting these schools.

In this connection it may not be inappropriate to refer to the formation of the *‘ African
Methodist Episcopal church.” ‘‘In November, 1737, the colored people belonging to the
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Methodist Society of Philadelphia convened together in order to take into consideration the
cvils under which they labored, arising from the unkind treatmeut of their white brethren,
who considered them a nuisance in the house of worship, and even pulled them off their
knees while in the act of prayer and ordered them to the back seats. For these and various
other acts of unchristian conduct they considered it their duty to devise a plan in order to
build a house of their own, to worship God ‘ under their own vine and fig tree.””’ The above
extract is taken from the historical chapter of the ** Book of Church Discipline” of the ‘‘African
Methodist Episcopal chureh,” and the chapter is signed by Bishop Wm. P. Quiun, Bishop
Danicl A, Payne, Bishop Alex. W. Wayman, and Bishop Jabez P. Campbell. Among
other prominent men of Philadelphia, Dr. Benjamin Rush was the friecnd of the colored
people, and Bishop White also, who ordained one of their own number, after the order of
the Protestant Episcopal church, as their pastor. In 1793 those of Methodist proclivities
baving concluded to build a church, Rev. Richard Allen gave them the land for the purpose,
and with a few others aided them in the work. Francis Asbury, elways their friend, and
then bishop of the Methodist Episcopal church, officiated at the consecration, and the house
was named ‘‘ Bethel.” Thus matters stood until 1816. During this period the colored people
of Baltimore, Washington, and other places were oppressed as-in Philadelphia, and.in April,
1816, they called a general convention in that city, which organized the * Afiican Methodist
Episcopal Church.” At the same time the first bishop was ordained, R§v. William Allen,
who in the year 1799 had been ordained as preacher by Bishop Asbury’of the **Methodist
Episcopal church.”

One of the local preachers of this church, Rev. Thos. E. Green, now connected with the
‘Pisgah chapel,” Washington, when a child was bound out hy the orphans’ court to Jacob
Gideon, & well-known citizen of Washington, and he expresses himself greatly indebted to
Mr. and Mrs. Gideon for their kind treatment and the excellent instruction given him.

The number of colored people connected with Protestant Episcopal churches of the Dis.
trict bas always been quitc small. Christ church, Navy Yard, the oldest church of this
denomination in the District, was as impartial and kind in the treatment of its colored
worshippers as were the other Protestant churches in their early history. When the Sabbath
school was organized the colored children were gathered into it, occupying seats upon the
same floor with the white children, and this has been the usual custom of these churches,
In their worship the gallery, or a portion of it, has been assigned to the colored worshippers,
who, at the administration of the sacrament, are wont to descend and approach the altar when
the white communicants have retired. The banishment of the colored members to the back
seats at the sucramental table is not, however, peculiar to this church, ‘The Methodist Epis-
copal people, even in New England, have done likewise. Not long before the war one of the
most gifted colored wen in the country entered the Elm street Methodist Church in New
Bedford, intending to unite witl the church, but what occurred while he was present made
him depart without doing as he had intended. The following is his statement, [ Rev. Mr.
Bonney was at that time the pastor:] ** After the congregation was dismissed the half dozen
colored members descended from the gallery and took a seat against the wall most distant
from the altar. Brother Bonney was very animated, and sung very sweetly ‘Salvation, 'tis
a joyful sound ;’ and after serving the emblems to all the ‘ white sheep,’ raising his voice to
an unnatural pitch and walking to the corner where his black sheep seemed to have been
penned, he beckoned with his hand, exclaiming, ‘Come forward, colored friends! Come
forward! You, too, have an interest in the blood of Christ, God is no respecter of persons.
Come forward and take this holy sacrament to your comfort.’

In Georgetown there seems to have been less of Christian brotherhood in the Episcopal
churches towards the colored people than in Washington, In 1821 Rev. Stephen H. Tyng,
D. D., and Bishop Charles P. Mac Ilvaine, both then just entered into holy orders, were in
Georgetown ; the former being pastor of St. John’s and the latter of Christ church, These
gifted and devout young men knew no distinetion in their holy office founded upon the color
of the skin, and did not fuil to indicate their sentiments on the subject. When Mr. Tyng
was invited to the pastorate of St. John’s, the vestry made some repairs upon their church.
The colored people, who had hitherto entercd the same frout door with their white brethren
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and sisters in order to pass up into their gallery, wero now furnished a new ingress and
egress, A stairway on the outside of the church was run up to a gallery window, which
was converted into a door. It is the tradition that Mr. Tyng declined to accept the arrange-
ment on the ground that the faith, which he preached, acknowledged no back stairs to heaven
for the bumble poor. *‘The niggers' back atairs to heaven,” as the stairway was called, was
not used, and it is believed that the colored people entirely abandoned the church because of
the project. There was a deep feeling at this period in Georgetown, growing out of this
matter of the staircase and the well known views of these two pastors.

The first attempt to found a colored Episcopal church in this District was inade in 1867,
and the little ‘* St. Mary’s chapel '’ on Twenty-third street west and a small church and con-
gregation are the results. They are not, however, furnished a pastor of their own race—it
may be that they have none such in their ministry. This little band of colored people are
doing well. They have a large and flourishing Sabbath school, and are using much self-
denial and energy in the maintenance of the interests of education in connection with their
organization. The pastor is Rev. John M. E. McKee.

The Unitarian church, founded in 1820, and also the Friends’ meeting and tho Universalist
church, have always been opposed to slavery, and never tolerated unchristian treatment of
the colored people. The first named was a Now England church in its spirit and member-
ship, as it continues to be. The Orthodox Cobngregational church, resuscitated after the war
or near its close, was always of like spirit.

The Sabbath school among the colored people in those times differed from the insti-
tution as organized among the whites, as it embraced young and old, aund most of the
time was given not to the studying of the Bible, but to learning to read. It was the
only school which, for a time, they were allowed to enter, and was consequently of vital
importance in the history of their education in the District. As the distinction of color
in the church grew more prominent the colored Sabbath schools seem to have gradually
lost favor, till in 1835 they were swept away as by a storm. The First Presbyterian
church of Washington, which then worshipped in the edifice now rccupied by the col-
ored Israel Bethel church, at the foot of Capitol Hill, opened a SundGay school for colored
people in 1826, which was held regularly every Sunday evening for many years, and in it
many men and women, as well as children, learned their alphabet and to read the Bible.
Michuel Shiner, one of the most remarkable colored men of the District, who remembers
almost everything that has oceurred at the Navy Yard during his service of some 60 years
there, is of this number. Rev. Reuben Post, then the pastor of the church, now Dy, Sun-
derland’s, was the leader in this Sabbath school work, and his church and society fully sup-
ported him. There was a colored Sabbath school in the City Hall for a number of years
prior to 1831, The Trinity church people were worshipping there in that period, and the
school is believed to have been maintained mainly through the efforts of that society. Mr.
C. H. Wiltberger and his wife, themselves slave-holders, were the teachers of the school from
its organization till its dispersion at the time of the Snow riot.

Christ Church, at the Navy Yard, established a Sabbath scliool for colored persons some
years before the warof 1812, Among those most active in its organization were Rev, Andrew
Hunte:, the chaplain; Rev. John Chalmers, pastor of the Methodist Ebenezer church; and
Mr. John Coyle, an elder in the IMirst Presbyterian church, and a man foremost in every
humane and christian work. The school was first held in Christ church, but afterwards
moved to a school-house on New Jersey Avenue, used by Rev. Mr, Hunter for a day school,
opened by him about the year 1810. Hero it was maintained for several years. Mr, Hun-
ter, Mrs, Chalmers, Mrs, William Dougherty, and Mrs. Henry Ingle, the mother of Mrs.
Wi, IT, Campbell aud Mrs. Harvey Lindsley, both of Washington, were the good women
who entered heart and hand into theso benevolent labors, There are still living in the Dis-
trict colored persons who learned to read and write under their instruction.

OBSERVATIONS AND CONCILUSIONS.

It has been seen that when the rebellion approached, John F. Cook, George F. T. Cook,
Enoch Ambush, Miss Miner, Thomas H. Mason, Mrs. Charlotte Gordon, and the St. Vincent
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de Paul Society had each a very large school in operation in Washington ; Annie E. Wagh.
ington had a fine select school for the younger class of pupils; Eliza J. Brooks and Elizabeth
Smith had each a respectable school for primary scholars; 10 schools, with quite 1,100
schiolars, in Washington. Isabella Briscoo, morcover, had quite a large school in George.
town. In addition to these there were several small daily gatherings of children in private
houses; also night schools, which were largely attended by colored men, women, and
children. :

In passing from the schools whose history embraces more than half a century under the
old order of things, it is well to remark that the general character of both the schools and
the teachers was of an inferior grade as compared with what followed, when the great band
of accomplished teachers from the north came and took up the work in the District in the
closing years of the war. Some of those earlier schools, however, have not been surpassed,
it is believed, by any that have arisen under the new régime, and others were not much
inferior to the old-fashioned district schools of the New England rural towns.*

It is worthy of observation, also, that in no case has a colored school ever failed for the
want of scholars. The parents were always glad to send their children, and the children
were always ready to go, eéven when too poor to be decently fed or clothed. When a school
failed it was for want of money, and not for want of appreciation of the benefits of education,
The same remarkable avidity for learning was then apparent as is now so manifest among
the whole body of the colored population of this District,

The facts detailed in this narrative fully substantiate the following propositions:

First. The impression which prevails very generally that the colored people of this District
before the war had no schools is unfounded and exceedingly unjust to them.

Second. Public sentiment in the earlier years of the District was not only tolerant of cdu.
cation among the colored people, but positively in favor of it, and it was a common thing
for colored and white children to associate together in the same school.

Third. The attendance of colored children at school was as large before the war as it is
now in proportion to the free colored population of the District at the respective periods.

Fourth. The colored people of the District have shown themselves eapable, to u wounderful
degree, of supporting and educating themselves, while at ihe same time contributing by
taxation to the support of white schools, from which they were debarred, and that, too, when
in numerous cases they had previously bought themselves and families from slavery at very
great expense; their history furnishing an example of courage and success in the midst of
trial and oppression scarcely equalled in the annals of mankind.

* NOTE.—Since the sketches of the early schools were written, the first prospectus of Miss Jones' school
(sec page 1J) has comne to hand. aod it is given below as indicuting the praiseworthy and honorable ambitien
of muny of the colured people.

Prospectus of St. Agnes' Academy, for colored girls. under the direction of Miss Arabella C. Jones, Washington
. city, March 10, 1852,

The object of this academy is of great importance, particularly to those who are devoid of schools in thelr
vicinity, und also to socicty at large.  Here the poor are educated gratuitously, the orphans clothed, educated,
and n good trade given them.  Females in this age ave natnrally destined to become either wothers of fami-
lies or household vervants.  As mothers, is it not necessary that they should be skilled in habits of industry
and modesty, in order to trausinit it to posterity 7 As domesties, should they net be tutored to the virtues of
honexty, integrity, and scbriety 2 Luast, though not least, many of our citizens of color are cmigrating to
Liberia, and it isnecessary, ax well-wishers of our race, that our children be well cducated, in order to impart
their knowledge to the illiterate,  Shail we, my friends, go there to teach, or ho taught? As emigrants from
a land of intelligence, I answer, to teach,

TERMS:
Baarding and tuition, quarterly . ...... . il Ceetaseeiseaetaariaaasaas $18 in advance.
L] - - | v
Masie 10 "
Bedding 2 o
Ut Of PIBNO. o a ettt it v e ieatenaanraanann A, e 1 “

Pareats who are not able to educate their children can address a letter to the proprietor. Scholars are to
L2 provided with one-half dozen towels, all toilet articles, a napkin ring, and desert spoon.

The ;chdool is situated in a locality known as the Island. A large house in the city will be procured if duly
J:atronized,
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PERIOD I1.—1861-1868,
1, CITIES OF WASHINGTON AND GEORGETOWN.

RELIEF SOCIETIES AND. FIRST CONTRABAND SCHOOLS,

The first attempt to gather contrabands into schools in Washington, though not the first
in the District,, some schools having been opened in the county still earlier by colored
teachers, was made by the American Tract Society of New York. Several of its agents
were here early in March, 1862. Mr. N. Du Bois, a clerk in the Interior Departinent,
who was an active man in the work, kept a careful diary of those times, from which it
appears that on Sunday afternoon, March 16, 1862, & meeting of contrabands was called in
Duff Green’s Row, Capitol Hill, then crowded with this class of people, held as captured
material of war. Rev. H, W, Pierson, for some time President of Cumberland College, Ky., as
an agent of this Tract Society, called the meeting, and there were present some sixty men,
women, and children, fresh from Virginia plantations, all eager to learn. Mr, Pierson taught
them with printed cards, having on them verses of seripture in large letters; and, using *‘ the
word method,” was very successful, they heing able, to their great delight, to read a whole
verse in half an hour. These meetings were followed up daily. Two or three weeks later
another school was started in the basement of the colored Union Bethel church, on M street,
near Fifteenth street west, by Rev. George Shearer, who had come with Mr. Pierson from
the Princeton Seminary as an associate. Elizabeth Smith, who had many years maintained
a colored school near this church, went to the first meeting, and attracting the notice of Mr.
Shearer by her great interest in his *‘word method " of teaching, was at onco drafted into
the work us the leading teacher. The school was held in the late afternoon and in the evening,
two scssions daily, and she was always there, maintaining her own day school at the same
time. Dr. Lorenzo D. Johnson, then clerk in & eavernment department, was also present
before the close of the first meeting, and making known his great interest in the enterprise,
was selected to superintend the work, which he did with the utmost devotion till he was
appointed assistant surgeon and assigned to duty at Lincoln hospital in August, 1862, after
the second battle of Bull Run. There were many in those days whose philanthropy found
expression in ardent words and eloquent resolutions; but Dr. Johnson was peculiarly o
man of action. This school speedily overflowed, and they went into the hall of the Bethel
Socicty, in the rear of their church, continuing the excellent work till November, when it
was found advisable to convert it into a day school with a regular teacher. This was done
by trausferring tho scholars to the house of Elizabeth Smith, who, opening an additional
room, incorporated them with her own school, -Dr. Jolnson paid her for the house and
services fifteen dollars a quarter, while he continued to exercise authority over the school,
down to June, 1863, Subsequently she received nothing, though the school was continueéd
through the war, aided to some extent by the African Civilization Society. 7

The Tract Society had its scat of operations at Duff Green’s Row till July 5, 1862,
when it took up its quarters at what were then known as McLellan barracks, a group of
horse-stables, with some small officers’ quarters, which were roughly transformed into the
homes of the contrabands with their managers and teachers. General James Wadsworth,
then in command of the District, took the profoundest interest in the schools at that place,
and was & very frequent visitor and their generous supporter. The camp was at a later day
called Camp Barker, and is now theseat of the fine schools and industrial operations of tho New
England Friends' Mission, at the junction of Twelfth street west, R north, and Vermont
avenue, The work here was prosecuted with great vigor and discretion, and on Thanks-
giving day, 1862, they held the first public entertainment ever given by a contraband school
i the District. Senator Pomeroy, of Kansas, was present, and addressed them in favor of
the scheme of a colored colony in Central America, which had then recently been recom-
mended by President Lincoln. Another remarkable occasion was when the Proclamation
of Emancipation took effect, the whole congregated multitude of contrabands, young and
old, awaiting upon their knees at midnight the signal of the moment between Decomber
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31, 1862, and January 1, 1863, which was to usher in their freedom! Scenes like this
occurred in many other places in the District on that occasion. In Jume, 1863, the Tract
Society divided its force, Mr. A. M. Sperry remaining in charge of the Camp Barker school;
and one portion, under the charge of Rev. D. B. Nichols, going to Arlington Heights, where
Freedmen’s Village was thon building. ‘There they dwelt in tents, hovels, and out doors
till the autumn, when tkey got into more cowmnfortable quarters. It was at this village that
the first thoroughly systematic and genuine contraband school was established within the
sight of the national Capitol. The schools in Washington were always of a mixed character,
comprising many scholats, young and old, who had long lived in the District, and who had
gathered some scraps of knowledge. AtFreedmen's Village a spacious school-house was erec-
ted, and in the late antumn of 1863, there was a school numbering soine 250 children, all fresh
from the plantations. Mr. H. E. Simmons, assisted by his wife, was the teacher, and he was
o master of his business in the best sense of the term. The school attracted the attention of
all really careful observers of the times in this District. Secretary Seward, with his wife
. and his daughter Fannie, were constant visitors there, as they hod been in other years at
" Miss Miner's school. Mr. Seward went there with the foreign ministers and great public
characters who visited the capital in those times, taking them into the school to show them
a practical exemplification of the native powers of the negro in his most untutored condition,
Senators and representatives also went there to see the marvellous spectacle, and those who
watched the school most carefully were the most surprised, so signal were the. results.
This school at one time comprised some 400 contraband children, and was continued through
the war, the work being turned iuto the hands of the American Missionary Society, 1865,
and the village entirely broken up in 1868. Miss Sallie L. Daflin, a native of Philadelphia
and a graduate of the ‘‘Institute for Colored Youth” of that city, a woman of superior talent,
was one of the most useful teachers at the Freedmen’s Village.

The National Freedmen's Relief Association, organized in Washington April 9, 1862, had
two evening-schools, one at the Bethel church already noticed, and another at tue
Ebenezer church, under its general management and support that year. In November, 15863,
they opened another day-school, in addition to that of Miss Smith's, with two teachers, and
in December still another with two teachers, of whom one was colored. Mr. George T.
Needham was one of the foremost in organizing and conducting both the evening and day
schools at this time. This association was composed mostly of those persons resident in the
District, who, realizing the great necessities developed by the war, united temporarily for
the emergency, until more systematic and permanent aid could come from the north. The
work they initiated was of the greatest service, and not the least portion of it was that ot
enlisting the sympathies of their friends in other parts of the country.

In June, 1863, Dr. Johnson organized a school at Lincoln hospital, seconded by Dr.
Mugee, the surgeon in chargo. It was opened in the chapel, and Miss Laura Gates, of
Penusylvania, whose brother commanded the company of Veteran Reserves on duty there,
was employed as teacher. She was allowed one ration from the hospital and $20 2 month,
which monthly allowance was paid by Dr. Johnson for two months. Mo also procured
books and clothing from northern friends and contributions to pay the teacher. Another
teacher was subsequently employed. The school was for the contraband peoplo about the
hospital, and comprised all ages, numbering about 50. -

The American Tract Society of Boston was represcnted in the year 1862 and 1863 by their
agent, Rev. J. W. Alvord, who rendored an important service in furnishing the excellent
school and religious books, which the society had very wisely compiled and published for
schools of that clags then organizing in the District. Mr. Alvord was afterwards appointed
to and still holds the responsible position of general superintendent of the educational work
of the I'reedmen’s Burcau throughout all the southern States.

THE APPEAL TO THE COURTRY.

In the vain hope that Congress would give substantial aid to the canse, the friends of
colored schools had struggled through more than two years, doing somothing to meet the
stupendous emergency. In the first months of 1864 the extraordinary condition of things
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was brought to the notice of the country through the public press. It was estimated that there
were in the District and vicinity 30,000 or 40,000 colored people from the plantations, all anx-
ious for instruction, while but 2,000 or 3,000, at most, were provided with the slightest privil-
cges of an educational kind. A very large nuumber of government clerks and other friends of
the cause in Washington, who had been sustaining night schools through the previous year,
at this time organized an ** Associntion of Voluuteer Teachers,” and sent forth an appeal
under its sanction, sclting forth in clear and forcible language the facts in the case. This
appenl, dated April 16, 1364, was written by A. . Newton, who had been in the work as a
teachier and who was destined to be an eminently wise and conspicuous leader in the great
work which was then opening in the District.

RELILEF SOCIETIES CONTINUED.

The Americnn Missionary Association sent its agents in the summer of 1862, but finding the
Tract Society of New York on the ground in full force they retired without further demon-’
strations that yecar. InI°ebruary, 1864, they sent Mr. William J. Wilson, a well known colored
teacher of Brooklyn, N. Y., to enter upon the work. Heimmediately started a school in the
ball of Asbury church. Mr. A. M. Sperry, who, assisted by Miss Georgiana Willets, had
been in charge of the Tract Society’s work at Camp Barker after Mr. Nichols took charge
at Freedmen's Village, being, with his assistant, ordered south by the society in June, 1864,
surrendered his school to Mr. Wilson, who immediately assumed charge, with his wife as
assistant, continuing cnergetically in that work till the camp broke up in the antumn of
1866. The school was held in the chapel which the Tract Society built, and which the
Missionary Association purchased at this time. It had one spacious hall and two recitation
rooms, and here a school averaging at least 250 scholars was kept up for more than two years,
the number sometimes reaching 400 men, women, and children, It was probably the
largest school ever seen in a single room in the District, and, considering its magnitude and
miscelianeous nature, was eminently successful under the vigorous and intelligent manage-
meut of those teachers, but it was not possible to attain such results as were developed under
the system of graded schools organized in 1865 by the Pennsylvania and New York Reliof
Societies under Mr. A, E. Newton. Mr. Wilson went from Camp Barker to the Third street
Baptist church in the autumn of 1866, opening there a large school, which was continued
for one year by his wife and daughter under the auspices of the Missionary Association, and
with excellent success. In November, 1864, this society had in operation the school at Camp
Barker, a large school in Georgetown, another on the Island in Washington, and a fourth in
Soldiers’ Free Library, cmbracing 11 teachers, with two evening schools, in all embracing
quite 1.000 scholars. This association was organized September 2, 1849, and originated in
a dissatisfaction with the neutral policy of other missionary societies on the slavery question.

The Pennsylvania Freedmen's Relief Association, in response to the * teachers’” appeal,
widely disseminated through the northern States, camo resolutely upon the ground, and com-
menced operations in May, 1864, in the Union Wesley chureh, Twenty-third street west, and
in June opened another school in the Zion Wesley church, Island, with two teachers in
cach, under the superintendence of Mr. Rogers, an excellent young man from Massachusetts,
who died that season of typhoid fever. In the autumn they established a school in Galbraith
chapel, L street between Fourth and Fifth, and still another in Georgetown in the Mount
Zion church, the Miss Chamberlains taking in charge theso two last-named schools. In the
Mount Zion church school a second and third teacher were soon added.  In December, 1864,
the society bought a house and stable on L street near Nineteenth street west, and having
fitted up the latter, with an industrial establishment attached, at a cost of about $3,000,
opened two schools, using the house for the teachers’ home. January 1, 1865, Mr. A. E.
Newton beeame the superintendent, also opening their schools in Alexandria, and at this time
and the following winter the society did the largest work of any organization, and did not
withdraw from the ficld until 1868, Somec of the first merchants and men of wealth of
Philadelphia were at tho bottom of these operations, among whom may be mentioned J.
Miller McKim, an old anti-slavery man ; the brothers Marmaduke Cope and Francis R. Cope,

Friends, well known for their works of benevolence. The president of the society was
15
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Steplien Caldwell, at that period acting as president of the United States revenuo cominission.
The sceretary was James Rhoads, also conspicuous in many of the best efforts to inprove
the African raco.

The Philudelphia Friends' Freedmen's Rilief Association was hero with like spirit in the
samo month, starting “their first school in Union Wesley church, Twenty-third street west,
They soon bought o lot on Nineteenth street near the boundary, and built a large school.
house, costing 6,000, which before winter was filled with scholars under an admirable corps
of teachers., The location, however, did not prove to be a favorable one, and in 1866 the
lot and house were sold and the school given up. h

The African Civilization Socicty was also at work in the carly summer. opening a school
in the hall of the Union Bethel church, on M street near Fifteenth street.  In 1365 and 1866
Rev. Benjamin W. Arnett, colored and a native of Pennsylvania, conducted a large school
supported by this society.

The Reformed Presbyterian Mission, in the course of the same summer, purchased a tract
of land on First strect west between N and O, (Island,) and erected sixteen dwellings, with
a chapel for religious and educational purposes. This focation was in the extreme southern
section of the city, where the colored population was large and mostly made up of contra.
bands, as it still continues to be. A large school was soon organized under the divection of
Rev. J. Bayliss, who was succeeded by Rev. J. M. Armour, In the early part of 1867
Rev. J. M. Johnston was made superintendent, and in the autumn of that year the schoel
was removed to a barrack building on Sixth street west near M street south. It is dividad
into four departments, with ncarly 260 scholars, under the care of excellent teachers—Miss
Sarah E. Moore, of East Craftsbury, Vermont; Miss Ielen M. Jolnston, Miss Kate E.

" Trumbull, and Miss Eunice A, Jameson, of Logan county, Ohio.  Miss Moore entered upon
the work in 1865, the others in 1867. Religions services and a large Sabbath school, under
cight teachers, are lield on Sundays. Nearly ail the families represented in the school
belonged to the slave population of Yirginia, and the improvement that has been wrought in
both children and parcnts by the persevering labors of this mission forms one of the most
interesting and encouraging chapters in the edueational work in the District.

The Old School Presbyterian Mission in 1861 opened a school in Georgetown, in the base-
ment of the Presbyterian church on Bridge street, and another in Lincoln Hospital chapel,
east of the Capitol. These were flourishing and useful schools, and were continued until
February, 1867.  The first superintendent was Rev. Mr. Aiken, who was succceded by Dr.
Johu A, E. Walk. Among the teachers in the Georgetown school was Miss Emma L. Crane,
now in charge of the gramwmar school in the Brick school-house, Island.

In May, 128064, there were in operation 12 day schools, with 25 teacbers and about 1,300
scholars; also, 36 night schools, with 36 teachers and about 1,350 scholars. The night
schools were generally continued with interest through the yecar, though some of those
depending on volunteer teachers expired from neglect. Tho Volunteer Associntion of Teachers
did good service, but wus disbanded in the spring of 1865, (This association was made up
mostly of department clerks, and was quite distinet from that organized afterwards among
the regular teachers of Washington, Georgetown, and Alexandria.) ‘The night teachers were
paid $10 & mounth through private contributions. In the autumn of 1264, and through the
winter, aid came with great genecrosity from the north,

The New Yorl Freedmen's Relief Association was actively engaged in the work in 1864
with a vigor not inferior to that of any other organization in the field, Ior three years their
schools were widely kknown for the large and generous seale on which they were operated, and
for their excellent character.  Their M street school, us it was called, comprising from eight
to ten departments, with an average attendance of over six hundred scholars, and directed
by Mr. A, E. Newton, cxcited the decpest interest among all who were observant friends of
the cause in those years. One of the first teachers sent by this nssociation was Rev. B. W.
Poud, of Maine, who opencd a school early in the summer of 1864 in the basement of Asbury
church, Eloventh and K streets. This was a pay school, a small charge for tuition being
wade, but many who were unable to meet this expense were admitted. In the following
winter two portable houses were sent from Boston by the association, into which the school
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was moved after their croction on M street near Massachusetts avenue. In 1865 Mr. Pond
was sent by the associaiion to North Carolina as superintendent of their operations there,
aud he was succeeded by Miss Julia A. Lord, who was at that time tenching in the Liucoln
Institute, on the Island. When the hospital barracks, near by, at the corner of M and Four-
teenth strects, were taken by the association, Miss Lord was placed in charge of the grammar
school, and the portable buildings were used for the large infant department. The grammar
school furnished to the Howard University, when its preparatory department was opened in
May, 1867, a larger number of scholars than any other school in the city. Of that depart-
ment Miss Lord i3 now one of the principals.

The Nevw England Freedmen's Aid Commission, supported by the Baptists of Boston,
established the ** Boston School,” so called, corner .. Nineteenth and I streets, in September,
1864, In November, 1864, this school was graded, Miss R. 8, Cupron, of Massachusetts,
being its principal till the ensuing January, when Miss Lucy A. Flagg, o young lady of
much talent aud remarkable capability in her work, succeeded to the place, continuing thero
tilt her health failed in 1866. In the spring of that year the school was transferred to the
American Baptist Home Missionary Society of Boston, and by them organized as a Normal
school, and still later converted into **The Wayland Theological Seminary.” 'I'he sbove
Commission was o different organization from the New England Freedmen'’s Aid Society.

The New England Freedmen's Aid Society did an excellent work in taking charge of the
first celored publie school ever opened in the District, and at that time the only one, It was
apesed March 1, 1364, in the colored Ebenezer church, Capitol Hill, but in May, 1865, was
removed to the school building erected for them on C street. They added two teachers and
two schools, supporting the four teachers and filling the house with scholars, the averuge
attendance being over 300, The first teachers were Miss Emma V. Brown, colored, one of
Miss Miner's favorite scholars and also her assistant, and Miss Frances W, Perkins, of Now
Haven, Connecticut. Miss Brown was afterwards placed by the trustees in charge of the O
street grammar school, which she conducted in a most praiseworthy mauner, until failing
liealth, lnst year, compelled her to resign.  As is hereafter mentioned in connection with the
Listory of the public schools, Miss Perkins was instrumental in obtaining funds for erecting
this building, the first public school house in the District.

The Nvw England Friends’ Mission also eame in 1864, and still continues its very excel-
lent work.  In the autumn of that year they purchased a large tract of land on Thirteenth
street between R and S north, built o store, and furnished goods ut cost to the colored people.
In the following winter they opened schouls in the government buildings, which were turned
over to them, teaching o large school of women to sew and the children to braid straw.
A duy school was organized in the autumn of 1363, and in the winter a second was opened,
the two comprising some 150 children, with two teachers. In 1866 and 1367 there were five
teachers, with two handred scholars, At the preseut time this school is arranged in four
departments, under tho care of Miss H. 8. Macomber, of New Bedford, Massachusetts, a
lady of enltivatior, and an admirble principal, with four excellent assistants, all ladies of
refinement—Miss Mury C. Lawton and Miss Susan . Pierce, of New Bedford; Miss Mary .
E. Oliver and Miss Mary E. Gove, of Lynn, Massachusetts. The important work of visiting
the colored families and children at their homes is committed to Miss Sarah 1. Wall, of
Worcester, Massachusetts, who has labored here assiduously for five years for the good of
the colored people.  She is also ir charge of the sewing department, an important branch of
the industrial work. The school now numbers more than 250, and is full to overflowing,
rendering it necessary to refuse many applications almost daily. A flourishing Sabbath
school hus also been maintained from the beginning, averaging about 150 scholars, with ten
or twelve teachers.  In 1865 more land was purchased and severel houses erected, which
were sold on casy terms, as intended, to industrious colored families, the monthly rent being
 eredited as purchase money. The school is supported by the New England Friends’ yearly
meeting, and in an unobtrusive and Jjudicious manner is accomplishing great and permauent
good.  Among its generous and active supporters from the first has heen Hon, Joseph Grin-
nell, of New Bedford, who often comes to visit it, gwing his personal attention to its support
sud management, The Trustees of the public schools have aided this school s0 tar as to
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furnish fuel the past year. From tho organization of the school in October, 1865, to June,
1367, Richard Battoy, from Blackstoue, Mass., was the superintendent; since which time
Mr. and Mrs. John C. Gove, from Lynn, Mass., have liad the general management. About
two-thirds of the scholars are boys. -

** The Washington Christian Union,” an organization of this cny. now actively engaged
in educational work among tho colored people, originated in or grew out of the ** Young
Men's Unitarian Associntion, which was formed February 3, 1866, its object being gencral
missionary and cliristian work among the needy of all classes. Early in 1867, as members
of other denominations had for some time been their co-workers and given substantial aid,
and also for the purpose of extending their work and making it moro effective, it was judged
advisable to adopt a new name for the Association, and invite the co-operation of all Christian
and benevolent people. At the same time the pressing nccessitics existing among tho freed.
meu iu the District claiined all the resources aud enlisted the sympathies of tke ** Union.”
Accordingly, on the 2d of May of that year, (1867,) a night school especially for adult colored
persouns, at first consisting of 15 scholars, but the number soon ranging from 100 to 160, wa
opcned at the Lincoln Iustitute, or E street chapel, on the Island, and was conducted by
volunteer teachers. Iu the autumn the Trustees of colored public schools gave them the use
of two rooms in the new brick school-house corner of Ninth and F streets, into which they
moved about November 1, the rent of the Lincoln Institute having been paid by the ** Freed.
men's Bureaw,”  The xchool is still continucd at the same place with gratifying success,
though the number of scholars has somewhat decrensed. Mr. W. H. Treadway, of tho
Treasury Department, has had -1 immcdiate charge of the school, aided by othor members
of the ** Union.”

The first superintendent appointed by the ** Christian Union* was Mr. W. A. White, but
he was soou succeeded by Mr. J. R. Fletcher, of the Treasury Department, who was then
conducting an independent night school and n Sabbath school, in the Free Library build-
ing, Judicisry S8quare. In the autumn Mr. Fletcher was made and still coutinues Genersl
Buperiutendent of all the educatioual work of the socicty, and in January, 1868, his night
school was formally included iu its operations.

Aunotler night school has just been opeued (January, 1869,) in the O streot colored schiool-
house, which numbers over 200 scholars of all ages, childien, parents, and giandparcnts
scated together learning to read and write. The president of the Union, Mr. James M.
Blauchard, late of the Putent Office, has charge of this school, assisted by nine er ten excel-
leut tonchers.

‘These night schools have doue and are deing o very important work, most of those attend-
ing them being intelligent and awbitious adult scholars, who are unable to attend the day
schools,  All the labor of jnstruction avd of general wanagement has beon done from the
first by volunteer, unpaid teachers. The officers of the society are, James M. Blanchard,
President ; Johu E. Mason und J. M. Jayne, Vice-Presidents; F. S. Nichols, Secretary;
W. H. Treadway, Corresponding Secretary.

The Unitersalists of Mainc.—Onc of the best day schools in the District, though continued
for less than two years, was that in the Lincoln Institute in 1867 and 1863, taught by Miss
Julia C. Chase, of South Livermore, Maine, and supported by the Universalists of that State.
The school numbered about 50, and perhaps in no school in the District have tho scholars
been more attached to their teacher or inade more rapid progress.  Miss Chase camo in March,
1866, teaching through the remainder of that school yeor in the school of tho New York
Freelmen’s Assoclation, in the Capitol Hill barracks. In the following winter sho opened
ber own school on tho Island, and taught until June, 1863. IHer success, like that of Miss
Elwcll in the Fourteonth strect school, shows how much good can be accomplished by one
faithful teacher. The Lincoln Institute building, or E strcet chapel, was bailt in 1853 by
what is now koown as the St. Poul's African Methodist Episcopal caurch, which in 166‘2
moved inte their now edifice on E street between Ninth and Tenth streets.

Miss Elwell's school.—Among the teachers of the New York Freedmen's Relief Auocaalwu
school on M streot, corner of Fourteenth street, in 1865 and 1866, was Miss Rebeces R.
Elwell, of Hartford, Counccticut. In the autumn of 1867 she was engaged by the Hariford
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Relief Society, and opened a school in Carroll Hall, on Fourteenth street near Ponnaylvania
avenue. The next year she moved down Fourteenth street nearer the canal, in the section
knowan as * Murder Bay,” where she atill remains, Hur school room is in a small Baptist
chnreh, and, withont an assistant, she has charge of about 70 cc lored children, most of them
belonging to the poorest classes, and gathered from the hovels and by-ways of tho city.
Among the benevolent operations of the District, there is no one demanding more self-denying
labor than this; but in the remarkable love of the scholars for their teacher, as well na In
their improvement, she finds a rich reward. Her records show many rare cases of faithful
attendance and good conduct, and the desire for knowledge among thesae more unfortunate
colored children is fully equal to that shown among the more favored. S8everal of the boys,
from ten to tivelve years of age, have been marked only once or twice for either absence or
tardiness during a whole year, and even those resvltivg sometimes from sickness. This
school was last year organized us one of the public schools, the Trustces providing furniture,
baoks, fuel, &c., but the salary is still paid by the Hartford Relief Socicty. Miss Elwell
commenced ber benevolent work early in 1865, in connection with the Pennsylvania Freed.
men's Reliel Association, on the Island.

The Associations maintained through the school year 1353463, in the two cities, 27 day
schools, comprising 3,583 scholars under the charge of G4 teachers, and 138 night schools
with 1,020 scholars and 46 teachers. Nearly all the Socicties continued their labors during
the two following years, and two additional Socicties joined in the work.

The following tables give the names of most if not all of the Associations, and the extent
of theiv operations.  The nuwbers given are in some cases only gencral estimates or averages,
but are based on trustworthy information, and even where tho fullest records are preserved
there were necessarily groat fluctuations from month to month:

Schools of the Relief Societics, May, 1364.

IR
-
B | = | B
National Freedmen's Relief Association, District of Columbia....... 5 11 500
American Tract Society, N. Y. o oveni i riiiiaer iee e 1 2 100
African Civilization Society ... . .oiiiieiiriiitiitenn i anann. 1 2 100
Reformed Presbyterian Mission, (one night school) .................} 2 4 200
Penusylvania Freedmen's Relief Association.......................f 1 2 150
Philadelphia Friends’ Freedmen’s Relief Association ............... 1 2 150
Dr. L. D. Johnson, (ono night school) covevvenvevniiiunsvianan.. 2 2 100
Trusters of Colored Public 8chool8 ccvet caeiaeviiiviieneinennannn. 1 2 100
Voluoteer Teachers' Association, (night schools)........... ceeel] 12 ’ 34 | 1,250
i
T P 2 | 6L !2650
{ i
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Day 8chools, 1864-'83.

s [17

ALIE
Pennsylvapia Freedmen's Relief Association....................... 6 14 818
New York Frreedmen's Relief Association..........c.cceevvmaiaanane 5 9 450
American Missionary Association, New York ......ccocenaiinaaaoe. 4 11 VK]
Philadelphia Friends' Freedmon's Relief Association................ 2 (] 369
African Civilization Society, New York ..c..vovivneinnnennnnan, ] 3 180
Old 8chool Preshyterian Mission . ....coceeeveeeeeeniiiiiiienen 2 5 350
Reformed Presbyterian Mission, Pittsburg...........ooiiiiitts 1 1 200
New England Freedmen's Aid Commission, Boston................. 2 4 160

New Eungland Freedmen’s Aid Society, Boston, [took charge of public
8Chool] eonneieiin . 3 1 200
American Free Baptist Mission Society, New York.................. ! 1 ]
Private school, Miss Goodenow, Maine .oevneen i oano. RITTRT 1 L 60
TOM] e eeeeeeee eemeeeeean e e e eeee aeee eennn e 29 1 62 3,58
Night Schools, 1864-"05.

i B

3 2| E

£ g | 2

[5] @ (3]

7B = €N

e

Volunteer Teachers’ Association ....ovveueiiiiinneerieennann.... w 500
01d School Presbyterian . .oueereeone cane ceeeaaeeiiaaieiaanaeas 27 100
American Missionary Association . .... ... ...l 4 8 pel]
Soldiers’ Free Library . .oeeee coitcies carececaennnvenrmaaeanean. 16 160
Reformed Presbyterian Mission. ...coeeoie oo i oLl 1, 3 50
TOMBL v veeeeeees eeenemae e aeen e es e e s e e en aes 13 | 46 | 1,00

"yr

During the above school year of 1364-"63, there were also in operation six private colored

schools taught by colored teachers, with an average attendance of 340 scholars.

It has been

stated that the American Tract Society, N, Y., partially in the autumn of 1863 and finallyin
1864, withdrew from their extended field of operations in Washington that they might con-
centrate tneir force nt the Freedmen’s Village, Arlington, where the need of humane and

christian work was so great.
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. Day Schaols, May, 1805, (Near ITashington.)’
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é »

sl8:

11113

B ]
American Tract Society at Freedmen's Village . ... ovvvveaeenn oo, 1 3 242
Miss Emily Ilowland, near Arlington ...........cooooiiiiiaanan.. 1 1 100

Miss Atkiuson, at Camp Wadsworth ...... ..., 1 1 by
Pennsylvanis Freedmen's Relief Association at Alexundria .......... 1 3 180
New England Ficedmen’s Aid Society ............ e, 1 3 170
New York Ireedmen’s Relief Society .......cocoveniuiiieasn ceeens 2 4 240
Government Superintendent of Freedmen......... . 3 10 269
Reformed Presbyterian Mission, Xenia, Ohio. ... coovetcvnanan.at. 1 5 240
Private Colored Schools.... ..o iiivr i iiietiieee et 8 12 600
Total e e i e i iiea tcret cssecenes 19 42 | 2,001
Day Schools, 1865-'G6.

s | 8 | B
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B | & | @
Pennsyivanin Freedmen's Relief Association, Philadelphin.......... 9 17 858
yew York Freedmen's Relief Association, New York..o.oovveenn...n 8 12 0604
American Missionary Association, New York......... ..o ianll. 8 11 594
American Baptist Home Missionary Society, New York..... ... . .. 3 7 84
Philadelpbia Friends’ Freedmen's Relief Association................ 2 6 376
New Eungland Freedmen’s Aid Society................ccoooioi 4 4 315
New England Friends® Mission. .o oo iii i iiiiiicinnoanee. 2 3 180
Old 8chool Presbyterian Mission, Pittsburg.... ...l 2 5 373
Reformed Presbyterian Mission. ...ocvovoin i iiinienn, 1 3 186
African Civilization Society, New York..... ... .civienviannn. 2 2 108
Bangor Freedmen's Relief Associaton. ........ ... .coiveuneinaa .. 1 1 &2

B 42 71

3,930

In May, 1865, the Volunteer Tcachers’ Association was disbanded, and their ten Night

Schools, with 625 scholars, were continued by the teachers of the day schools.
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Day Schools, 1806-1867,

In the autumn of 1830 there was a consolidation of the thres Rolief and Aid Societies of
Now York, Pennsylvania, and New England, for the purpose of more systematic operations,
They had their headquarters at New York city, with branch offices at Boston, New York,
and Philadelphia. In 1866-"07 the records show as follows:

Schools.
Teachers.
Scholars

New York Branch Freedmen's Union Commission .......c.ccocvoee. 15 17 |04
Pennsylvania Branch Freedmen’s Union Commission...............| 1b 17 849
New England Branch Freedmen’s Union Commission............... 4 41 2
American Misslonary Association...oceecovoeevaii i iiiaal, 8 9 507
- American Baptist Home Missionary Society.....cccveeeecennann., 3 6 101
New Englaud Friends' Mission .......cocveiuiiniaacinenneeannan. 2 5 M7
Reformed Presbyterian Migsion.......cccerivveenivennanan.. b 5 o
Bangor Freedmen's Aid Society .....cocvoveeevinnienacacnsanan. 1 i "
Theological Institute and University, Rev. Dr. Turney.......... ... 2 5 7
St. Martin's Church, colored, Catholic ... .o vvnvieennaiieiana ot 2 4 330
Trustces of Colored S5chools evvveeer e ierieianiaaecaaneas] 5 7 430

OB o cevevereeracoreeneastssencesonanneconcnsanatonsnns

[=2]
«~
&
>
&

In the autumn of 1867, these aid organizations nearly all concluded to withdraw from the
field, upon the supposition that the Trustees of colored schools were able to fully assume
their work. Mr. A. E. Newton, who had been for three ycars in the work, persistently
urged otherwise, and the New York and Penusylvania * branches,” of which ho had been’
the superintendent, consented to return cach 8 teachers; tho New England Friends, 5;
the Reformed Presbyterian Mission, 2; the Hartford, the Bangor, and the Holliston, Mass,
Associations cach, 1; the Universalists of Maine, 1; the New England F. A. Commission
and the Rochester Anti-Slavery Society, each a teacher of sewing. Total, 29. In February,
1867, therc was 24 night schools in successful operation.

The following is o general estimate of the expenditures of the leading benevolent agencies:

Pennsylvania F. R. Association, (Pa. branch committee) .. ... ...ccociiienen. £32, 500
New York F. R. Association, (N. Y. branch committee) ......cccceeeeeeananan. 24, 000
New England F. A. Society, (N. E, branch committee) ..............o0 ecen 6, 000
American Missionary Association. ..o veeeeiiomnen i iiiii it 14,500
Philadelphia Friends...eeeeecenecoecn e i iiiiiiicetieiiiie e 13,500
New England Friends «coeeeveniereecoitoae it ceiieiiaanes 7,000
Reformed Presbytorian Mission.....c.veeeemuemeeioanaiiaamniaeaae oo, 11,500
" 0. S, Presbyterian MiBsion «ceeeecoeeoaenaeecoan toiiie st taeaesaaeaanas 6,500
American Baptist Home Missionary Society, (including N. E. F. A. Commission) 8,000
African Civilization S80CIotY ceccerveiuonrimmeiareeirencieecienecnonnannsas 3,000
American Freo Baptist Mission .. .eecerveeaeeaiieiiiiiiiiriainiiaennnn, 1,000
National F. R. Association, D. C. (contributed from the north)................. 1,500 .
American Tract 80CIeLY - eeeeveeecooeee coveceaeeeumceaeemencnenennenaeanes 1,000
Miscellaneous contributions .. ......ocveeeceoeeneerecnoeacacncnneeceaannaaae 0,000

Total Northern aid ‘n the four years.... .. .. Cetiasseseie wenmees teeans 135, 000
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This estimate, made by superintendent Newton, & mun of grut precision, does not embrace
the very extonsive donations of books, school furniture, and clothing. = Tbhe expenditure was
divided in the several years about as follows: 1863-4, $8,600; 1864-5, $39, 000;.1885-6,
$35,600 ; 1866-7, $35,000; 18067 -8, $17, 000, Total, $135,000. Add to this amount $25,000
contributed in books, school furniture, and clothing, which is undoubtedly an under esti.
mate, and there is the sum of §160, 000 which was, with open hands and hearts, poured into
the noble and triumphant work of these years by the patriotic North, and that too whilo the
same agencies were extending their beneficence in almost all parts of the south,

The character of the teachers sent into this work by these benavolent agencies was of the
highest order, a large proportion of them ‘young women of solid and refined culture, apt to
feach, cxperienced in the vocation, and all decply interested in the self-denying labor. Mr.
Newton was the leading spirit, and was admirably fitted for the position. While a clerk in
the Quartermaster’s office he commenced his work as the teacher of a night-school. In
January, 1866, he was appointed superintendent by the Pennsylvania Freedmen's Relief
Association, subsequently receiving the samo appointment from the New York Freedmen’s
Relicf Association. Harving resigned his clerkship, he gave himself wholly to the schools of
these and other societies till, in the autumn of 1867, he was also made superintendent of the
colored public schools by the trustees, fulfilling all these arduous and complicated trusts with
extraordinary efficiency—giving place to a new superintendent, appointed by the trustees last
year. The teachers in November, 1865, were organized into an association for the purpose of
securing more syx=teim and barmonioue action. This association met monthly, and the whole
body of teachers—uearly all females—were invariably present,"and their meetings were con-
tinued for two years, accomplishing a vast amount of good. The first teacher who had great
success in bringing order out of chaos was Miss Lucy A. Flagg, of Massachusetts, who nade
the Boston school, corne: of 19th and I street, in 1863, a model of order aud thoroughness.
The New York school, at the junction of 14th and M streets, was however the first of these
schools in establishing something like a graded system in the true sense of the term. This
school not only had better buildings than the Boston school, but it also had Mr. Newton
from the first to tho last as its special superintendent. In Miss Julia A. Lord, the principal
of its highest department, it had also a teacher eminently fitted for her place, as in fact were
all the other nine teachers during those years. Nor should the name of Eliza A. Chamber-
lain, of Massachusetts, be omitted, who came here in 1866 and eutered into the work in
Georgetown with tho greatest zeal. Her superior qualifications find an ample witness in
the school in which she still continues to act as principal iu that city.

THE COLORED ORPHMANS' HOME.

This is one of the most interesting and useful institutions of an educational nature con-
nected with the colored people that has been established in this District. Its origin was
siugular. Late in tho autumn of 1862, the contraband families, which bad gathered in
great numbers in the contraband camps of Washington, were transterred to Arlington
Heights by order of the War Office. The order, which was to tranafer a1l the families, was
executed, leaving some 40 or 50 orphan children, belonging ti» no fumily, in the abandoned
camps in utter desolation. This contraband camp was subsequantly calicd Camp Barker, and
was on the north side of the city, between Twelfth and Thirteerth streets. The ground is now
occupied by the New England Friends® school. The benevolent women of the city immedi-
ately made these poor outcasts temporarily comfortable in the old camp, and went resolutely
to work to provide for them a Christian home. They formed an association, and fed, clothed,
sheltered, taught them, and ultimately built an asylum for thein and other colored orphans.
The original meoting was at the rooms of Mrs. James W. Girimes, January 31, 1803, Mrs.
B.F. Wade, Mrs. James Harlan, Mrs. 8, C. Pomeroy, Xrs. Houry Wilson, Mrs, A, H.
Gibbons, Mrs. Daniel Breed, and Mrs. J. F. Potter, were presient.  Mrs. Poweroy was sslected
to preside, and they proceeded directly to tho work of establishing ** an Asylum for aged and
destitute Colored Refugees and Colored Orphans,” of which classei there were multitudes then
* collected in the contraband camps in and around Washington.” The next meeting vrasat
the residence of Sayles J. Bowen, February 5, when ariicles ol association, presented by



234 SCHOOLS OF THE COLORED POPULATION.

Mrs. Gibbons, of New York, were adopted, and an orgnnizution effected, with the fdllowlng
officers: Mrs. Pomeroy, president ; Mrs. Grimes, vice-president; Mrs. Mary 15, Webster, of
Connceticut, treasurer; Mrs. ngiel Breed, secretary., The association was ihcorpomted
by Act of Congress approved Ifebruary 16, 1863; and on the same day an organization,
under tho charter, was effected at the residence of Daniel Breed ; tho officers above named
us chosen uuder the temporary organization being all re-elected, together with the following
board of managers: Mrs. Henry Wilson and Miss A. M. Hooper, Massachusetts: Mrs,
Harriet Underkill, Mrs. Lounisa Howells, Mrs. W, R. Johnson, Miss Mary A, Donaldson, and
Mrs. Rufus Leighton, of Washington; and Miss Emily Howlang, of New York. Since then
the successive boards of ofticers have been as follows:

1864.-—Mrs. ‘L. D. Eliot, president; Mrs. A. M. Gangewer, vice-presidont; Mrs. W. R,
Jolmson, treasurer; Miss Imily Howland, secretary. fxecutive committee: Mrs. Henry
Wilson, Mrs. AL 11 Gil‘)lmns. Miss M. A. Dounaldson, Mrs. L. Howells, Mrs. G, IJ. Baker,
Mrs. Samuel Wilkinson, Miss Anna M. Hooper, Mrs, C. C. Leighton, Mrs. I'. T, Brown
Trustees : Sayles J. Bowen, A. M. Gangewer, George L. Baker.

1565, —~Miss Margaret Robinson, president; Mrs, M. C. Hart, vice-president: Mrs. Ger-
mond Crandell, treaswrer; Mrs. W. L. Niclhiolson, secretary,” Lxecutive committee: Mys,
Jas. M. Blanchard, Mrs. I, Underhill, Mrs. Geo. W, McLellan, Mis, S, . Bliss, Miss S,
P. SBearle, Miss Eliza Heacock, Mrs Geo. B. Whiting, Mrs. Cbns.‘ Faxon, Mrs. Stepben D,
Charles. Trustees: Geo. K. Baker, A. M. Gangewer, John Jolifte,

1366.—Mrs. B. I. Wade, president ; Mrs. Geo. W. McLellan, vice-president: Mrs. Ger-
mond Crandcll, treasurer; Miss Iliza Heacock, seeretary.  Executive comumittec: Mis. S,
C. Pomeroy, Mrs. Lyman Trumbull, Mrs. Susan Wilson, Mrs. Gen. O. O. Howard, Mrs,
H. Underhill, Mys. D. N. Cooley, Miss Louise 8. Swan, Miss D. P. Baker, Mrs. Dr. Parker.
Thustees: A. M. Gangewer, S. J. Bowen, Charies King. )

1867.—Mrs. B. I, Wade, president; Mrs. Geo. W, McLellan, vice-president ; Mrs, Ger-
mond Crandell, treasurer; Miss Eliza Heacock. sceietary.  Iixecutive committee: Mrs, S,
C. Pomeroy, Mrs. Lyman Trumbull, Mrs, W, I, Nelson, Mrs. Gen. O. O. Howard, Mys,
II. Underhill; Miss S. G. Searle, Miss I.. 8. Swan, Mrs. J. M. Blanchard, Mis. R, M.
Bigelow.

1263 —=Mrs 8. C. Pomeroy, president: Mrs, Geo. W. McLellan, vice-president; Mrs,
Germond Crandell, treasurer ; Miss Eliza Heacock, seeretary.  Ixecutive committee s Mrs,
Gen. O. O. Hownrd, Mrs. Oakes Ames, Mrs. R. M. Bigelow, Mrs. 11. Underhill, Mrs. W,
¥. Nelson, Mrs. H. I, Paire, Miss Louise S. Swan, Miss Surah 1. Scurle, Mrs. J. M, Blau-
chard.  Trustees: Sayles J. Bowen, Charles King, Geo. W. McLellun.

15G0.—Mrs. 8. C. Pomeroy, president; Mrs, Georgo W.McLellan, vice-president: Mrs.
Germond Crandell, treasurer; Mrs. Hiram Pitts, secretary.  Lxecutive conunittee: Mrs.
Gen. O. 0. Howard, Mrs, Rev, Sella Martin, Mrs. R. M. Bigelow. Mrs. Harriet Underhill,
Mrs. W. I'. Nelson, Miss Susan Walker, Miss Louise S. Swan, Mrs., W. I, Bascom, Mis,
J. Blanchard.  Trustees: Sayles J. Bowen, Charles King, George W. MceLellan,

The first douations to the association were received in April, 1363—$10¢0 from James
Arnold, of New Bediord, and 8§30 from Emily Howland, whose generosity had been for
many years well-uigh omnipresent where money and work were demanded in behalf of the
neglected race.  The Nationai Freedmen’s Relief Association soon after gave the associntion
$1,000. At a mceeting of the exceutive committee or board of managers, May Sth, action was
taken to secure a building, a committee being raised for that duty, and Daniel Breed was
solicited tu examine the title to a certain residence on Georgetown Ieights: aud on Juue 2
he veported to u meeting of the excentive board that it stood in the name of Richard 8. Cox,
who had at the opening of the rebellion abandenced his property in Geor.etown, gone to Vir-
ginia, und us o wajor in the confederate serviee taken up arins against the Union under cir-
cumstances peculiarly disgraceful and aggravating, being without the excuse of State alle-
giance urged by so many. This action wus suggested by the Sceretary of War, who, when
the association called on him for a house in whick to take cure of these children, directed
them to look up some place abandoned by those who had gone into the rebellion.  "Through
the efforts of the socicty an order was at once issued by the Seeretary of War, which ou tho
Ist day of June placed the association in possession of a spacious residence of sone dozen
rooms, well furnished, with about 20 acres of lund, including an cxcellent orchard, Mrs,
Pomeroy, who was authorized to take possession of the premises by tho Secretary of War,
being sick upon what proved her death-bed, Mrs. Daniel Breed, the sccrotary, was deputed
to uct in her place in assuming the possession.  Accordingly, she aud her husbaud, Dr. Breed,

entered the premises aud made them theic temporary quarters duriug the gathering in of the
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children and the organization of the institution. The house was occupied by & brothor-in.
law of R, 8. Cox when seized by the military nuthoritics, On the arrival of Dr. and Mrs.
Breed the guard withdrew, and without human protection they safely passed the first night,
though in imminent danger not only of violence but of their lives. _

Soon after moving into their Home, & frame building was put up for a kitchen and cook-
rooni, at o cost of $150, the work being done by ** contraband carpenters;” and ia tho
autumn of 1863 o laundry was built, and the carriage hounse fixed up for a dormitory. In
the spring of 1866 water was introduced into the premises from the reserveir, which con-
tributed much to the health of the inmates, who had previously suffered severcly from dis-
cases produced by want of cleanliness und proper sleeping apartments. The new build-
dings, which had been crected by the I'resdmen’s Bureau, were at this time ready for
occupation, aud had been furnished with o good supply of bedsteads from the Oflice of
Medical Stores of the War Department.  New clothing was also furnished, and o thorough
system instituted in everything, the excellent results of which wore soon manifest in the
condition of the children. Rations and a surgeon had been furnished, by the order of 4he
Sceretary of War, from I"ebruury, 1864, down to the summer of 1855, and was continued
through the month of May by the influence of Senator Pomeroy. In June, the attention
of General O. O. Iloward was called to the Home, who sent an inspector to examine the
institution.  The report was of the most commendatory nature, and the rations were con.
tinued through his orders, the association offering to receive any children the Burcau might
intrust to them,

It was at this period that the association begaun to anticipate disturbance from R. S. Cox,
who, having returned from the confederate army, was appealing to the President for pardon
and the consequent restoration of the property then leld by the Home. In July, 1565,
Cox addressed a letter to the association, offering them $1,000 to vacate the premises, which
propusition was declined. At this time the Attorney General assured the association that uo
pardon would be granted to Cox until an arrangement satisfactory to them should be effected.
It was decmed advisable at that time to present a concise and exact statement showing the
aggravated nature of Cox's disloyalty, und to present the same to the President, which waus
accordingly done.  The paper was prepared in the form of a protest against the restoration
of the property, and the main facts presented were these: That in 1851 Cox was a clerk in
the Paymaster Genceral's office, and, refusing to take the cath of allegiance, withuut resigi:-
ing went svouth and served in the rebel army, with the rank of major, till the surrender of
Lee. Cox held the commission of colouel of the 2th regiment of the District militia when
lie went south, having been placed at the head of that regiment by IFloyd, just before the
iunuguration of President Lincoln, in place of Colonel Cruikshank, a man of undoubted
loyalty and capability. In September, 1553, the Attorney General, Mi. Speed, issued an
order for the process of confiscation, in the case of Cox, to proceed; and the association
employed counsel to assist in the prosecution. It became evident, however, in the course
of the winter of 1366, thui Cox was receiving cucouragement from the administration, aud
the earnest women ivterested in this Asylum resolved to go in person to the President, avd
present a statement of the strong claims of their Institution for protection in the possession
of the property abandoned by its disloyal owner under circumstances which seemed to ttem
to place him beyoud tho reach of all wise exccutive clemeney. On the day fixed for the
interview an assemblage of nearly a hundred ladies of the first social and intellectual standing
in the National Capital gathered at tho Executive mansion. The Secretary of War, Mr. Stan-
ton, who believed in the righteousness of their purpose and who was an efficient fricud of the
Asyium in many emergencies, was present to give the ladics an introduction to the President.
Mrs. Senator Trumbull was selected to muke the appen!, and she performed the duty with
remarkable clearness and force of statoment and striking dignity of manner. She began by
aflinning that ** treason is the greatest crime known to tho law, aud should be made odivus,”
adroitly weuving hor argument from the language in which tho President had put himself on
record 5o abundantly both in his own State and after becoming the Chief Magistrato of tho
country, After receiving o courteous but indefinite reply, the ladies withdrew, fully satistied
that an unconditional pardon would be granted to Cox. In the object sought and in the
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circumstances of the occasion, the delegation was one of the most remarkable that ever pre-
sented a patition at the Presidential mansion, and loyal men and women will long believe
that it was deference to traitors which withheld a compliance with the request of the peti.
tioners. In the summer the Attorney General signified to the association that he was in
favor of pardoning Cox. It is due to Mr, Speed to say that, in taking this ground, he
assigned as his reason that the class of rebels to which Cox belonged had beor embraced in
tho Presideut's scheme, and that he could seo no just reason for making this an excoptional
case. In June the pardon was granted, and on August 17 General Howard informed tho
association that the President had requested him to procure a place for the orphans, in order
to restore the estate to Cox,

Tho sssocintion went immediately to the preparation of a new Home. They bought o
valuable tract, cousisting of five lots on the extension of Eighth street, in Washington,
just beyond the boundary, paying $2,500 for the property; and the Frecdmen’s Bureau,
under the guidance of General O. O. Howard, proceceded without delay to build a spacious,
weH planned, two-story frame structure for tho Home. Congress, October 2, 1866, appro-
priated §5,000 for the use of the association, and from this sum they paid for the land. On
the 6th of November, when the time given to move by the President had oxpired, tho Sec.
retary of War, seeing that the new Howme was yet untenantable, assumed the authoriiy to
say that they should not be disturbed for another month. On the 7th of Decomber Cox
went to the Home, with officers, took off the doors and hinges, and removed all the furniture,
tondering it unsafe and impossible for the occupants to remain. General Howard in this
emergency offered to furnish them such quarters as could be found till the new Home was
completed, but the association decided to move ut once to the unfinished house. Cox laid
claim to the frame building which had been built by the association, but the question was

- promptly settled by General Howard, who sent a sufficient force to remove it rapidly from
the premises. Cox subsequently brought an action against the association for damages, in
tho sum of $10,000, although the association had expended $3,000 in improving the property,
these improvements including the introduction of water into the buildings. The suit, how-
ever, was dropped. In the summer of 1367 the Bureau finished the house, which makes a
very excellent Home. The grouuds were, during the samo period, terraced, and a fine lot for
a garden separately enclosed, in which are raised sufficient vegetables for the family during
the summer, The parlor was handsomely furnished last year by the exertions of Mre. Madi-
son, an efficient and benevolent colored woman of Washington, who gathered the mouey for
the purpose among her friends. The baste with which the association was compeiled to tako
its children to tho new unfinished home in Decomber, 1863, caused some unusual sicknoss,
and, it was believed, hastened death in several cases. With this exception health has pre-
vailed in the Asylum to an uncommon degree.

The Home is governed by a matron, who is subject to the direction of an cxecutive
committee, from whom she holds her office. Tho first matron was Mrs. Hull, chosen June
2, 1863, the duy after the Home was moved to Georgetown, her service continuing only to
the 25th of July follewing, when Miss Page, of Washington, took the placo in the emer-
gency.  Miss Wilbur, of Rochester, was immediately elected; but declining, the office was
filled by Miss Jeannette Jacksoun, who, assuming charge September 18, 1863, was exceed-
ingly successful. The association, when, by reason of ill hiealth, she resigned, January 27,
1834, expressed thoir deep sonse of her superior work in o formal resolution of the execu-
tive board. It being at that time deemed desirable to have a man and wife in charge, Mr.
J. B. Walt and wife were clected to the duties. Thoy served acceptably for several months,
resigning the chdrge to Mrs. Lucy L. Coloman, in the summer of 1864, In Soptember, 1864,
Murs, Coleman resigued, and was succeeded by Miss Reud, who also resigued January 16,
1865, Mrs. C. J. B. Nichols, of Conuecticut, being elected as matron on the same day.
Mrs. Nichols continued in charge with much capacity and success till, called to other duties, .
she resigned Ishruary 6, 1866, Her successor was Miss Eunico L. Strong, of Ohio, who
filled the arduous place from Februray, 1866, to October, 1868, with the groatest ﬁdhlity and
good jadgment, her vezignation causing universal regret among the friends of tho asylum. .
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She was succaeded’ by Mrs, Olive Freeman, who is managing the affairs of tbo mstitution
with much wisdom and succoss at the present time.

No assistant matron was employed in the Home till the Educational Commission of Bos-
ton, in May, 1864, kindly volunteered to send Mrs. Carr to the institution for>that duty..
Mrs. Carr remained in the Home in various duties till February, 1866. In this poriod Miss
Seymour served for o time ns assistant matron, resigning in Juune, 1866, by reason of ill
health. Subscquently Mrs. Songers, of New York, was filling that position, and in 1867
she was in charge of the industrial school. In June, 1866, the Young Ladies’ Christian
Union, of Worcester, Massachusetts, sent Miss Hattie Stickney, of New Hampshire, to the
Home as assistant matron, and still continue to support her in that position, which sho
fills with the highest success and approbation.

The Providence Colored Orphan Asylum iu April, 1863, offered to adopt into their asylum
in Rhode Islaund 12 colored children—orphans dosired—which proposition was accepted,
the children being sent as soon as suitable selections could be made.

The school was organized early in June, 1863, as soon as the children were gathered into
their home on Georgetown Heights, and it has been continued till now with the utmost
efficiency and success. Miss ILmma Brown, a very capable colored young lady of George-
town, took charge of the school when it was first organized, and continued there with admi-
rable success during all her summer vacation, she being at that time a teacher in one of the
Waskington free schools. Miss Maria R. Mann succeeded her in September, 1863, remain-
ing till January 11, 1865, During her service much exertion was used to secure a good
school-house, the school at first being held in the parlor, and- subsequently in o very incon-
venient temporary structure. In the autumn of 1863 Miss Mann visited Boston under the
sanction of the asylum, and in itsservice received from Boston friends $600 in money, besides
many school-books, maps, cards, and some school charts. She also purchased about 30
second-hand school desks at $2 50 each. The school-room at Georgetown, as already stated,
was always inconvenient, small, and exposed to interruptions by persons passing through
the house.

In December, 1863, the school numbered 22 children, and in the beginning of January,
1864, there were 37 scholars, at which time the asylum, which had now been at Georgetown
six months, contained two aged women and 62 children. In May succeeding there were but
40 children, ranging from one year or less to twelve years of age, quite one-third being at
that time, as previously, below the school age. The temporary buildings in the form of bar-
racks—dining room, laundry, school-room, and dormitory—had been completed when the
new year, 18534, opened. It is proper to stato that when Miss Maria R. Mann's connection
with the school was dissolved, in January, 1863, she deemed it just to withhold from the
Home the funds and property which she had collected in Boston and elsewhere for school pur-
poses, including a portable school-bouse sent from Boston, which had been for some months
stored in Washington. In this action she was sustained by her friends who hud contributed
largely to tho funds.

Miss Mann was succecded temporarily by Miss Harding and Mrs. Carr, but in February -
the Freedmen's Aid Society of Worcester, Massachusetts, through tho kind offices of Mrs.
A, P, Earle of that city, sent Miss Sarah Robinson as o teacher, paying her salary.
Under her care the school was maintained in its excellent condition’ and numbered at that
period 46 scholars.

At the ciosc of the sumnmer term, June 1865, Miss Robinson was compelled to relinquish
ber work by reason of ill Lealth, much to the regret of the asylum. At the opening of the
autuwn term, however, the institution bad the excellent fortune to secure the services of Miss
Susan Towle, of Bungor, Maine. The Bangor Freedmen’s Aid Association, learning that
Miss Lowle was giving her services, and thinking it unjust for her to do so, offered to pay
Lier & salary, which they still continue to do.

The number of boys in the Home at the close of 1866 was 42, the number of girls 34;
the number of ¢hildren received during the year 1867 was 168, and the number remaining
Gt the close of the yeur wus 87. At the close of the year 1863 thero weore 89 inmutes, (boys
03, girls 27, aged women 9,) some 25 being below school age. This is, without any-cxcep-
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tion, ‘ono of the best conducted and mdst admirable colored schools within the District.
The school-room is apacious, handsomely supplied with furniture, convenient, cheerful in
its appearance, iir o healthy location, and the scholars, some 50 or 60 in number, progrossing
with uncommon rapidity. Thero is an industrial departinent connected with the school, in
which the children are taught sewing, knitting, and straw-braiding, the largo children being
also each day employed in the lubors of the household.

The institution is not limited to receiving orphan children, but also offers a home to desti-
tute children at the request of the parents, on their making a written surrender of their claim;
alse on tho request of one parent, in case of gross negicct or habitual drunkenness on the part
of the other. 'The trustees are also authorized to bind out such children as may be deemed
capable of learning trades, or of becoming useful in otber occupations. The scheol is so
divided that each child who is old ecnough attends the school daily. During ths last year
the school, in all its branches, has been managed by Miss Towle,

This institution has struggled hard to maiotain its work and build a Home for a class whose
clnims upon the benevolent are very great. The women who have engaged in this noble
work cannot all be mentioned in this condensed history. Many of them are seen in the lists
of the oflicers, nearly all of whom were active, thongh some of the most efficient of the band
do nat appear in thoso lists. It will be decmed only a meed of justice, however, to mention
Miss Eliza Heacock, of Philadelphin, whose unremitting work for several years as secretary
is recognized by all who are familiar with the history of the associntion. HHer fidelity in the
preservation of the records, which in the struggles through which the Asylum has passed
has been neither a s v2ll nor unimportant duty, extended to many other labors, contributing

"to the welfare, pecuniarily and otherwise, of the institution.

The Socicty of Friends in various States deserve to be mentioned for their large contri-
butions in money and in laborers. Of those who started the institution none were moro
laborious and effective than Mrs. S. C. Pomeroy, Mrs. John 1%, Potter, Mrs. Daniel Breed,
and Mrs. Lyman Trambull, all of whom have passed to their reward, their mauntles falling,
it can b truly said, upon those who are still carrying onward wisely and well this elevated
Christiar. enterprise.

The Freedmen's Burean has been the arm of strength to the association in every emer-

geney, and what these children of desolation are to do when the rations of the Bureau cease
does not yet appear, though it is not to be doubted that they and their Home will be main-
tained by the government and by the fostering hands of humane men and women,
It was fearcd that the nid from tho Irecdmen’s Bureau would be withdrawn January 1,
1869, under the limitations fixed by act of Congress to take effect at that date in the powers
and work of the Bureau; but this misfortune has been for a time deferred by the sction of the
Commissioner in annexing the Home to the freedmen’s hospital of the District, ‘*so far ag
may be necessary for providing medical attendance, medicine, and rations for the inmates.”
At no distant day, however, the association will have to depend entirely on private benefac
tions.

Though attention has been almost exclusively directed to this Asylum &s a lhome for the
orphan, there bave been aged and infirm women in its care from the first month of its exist-
ence, a very few in the first years, not usually in any period numbering above a dezen at
a time, N

i3uth Mrs. Potter and Mrs. Pomeroy died in 1863, the first year of the association. The
aunual report says:

“There were with us in the beginning two leading minds, especially distinguished by
unselfish devotion to this holy causc; §Irs. Potter, of Wisconsin, and Mrs. Pomeroy. of
Kausas, two of the originators of this enterprise, have passed from works to reward. Mrs.
Potter left us early, but not until the good work had felt the impetus of her carnest spirit. -
The loss of our president, Mrs. Pomeroy, wo have great reason to deplore. The Home has
been justly called her monument. Declining the 1est and change sho needed, she remained
with us during the summer’s lieat to aid in our work, still labering with us cven when life
wais waning, and her parting spirit sent us back a blessing with the prophet words, * the
Homo willsuzeeed.” Weremember her words : ¢'Tis for a race, for millions wo are working;
lot us forget ourselves.’”’ .
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In 1866 the association ** sustained tho loss of another of its original projectors and most
earnest fricnds,” Mrs. Gulielma Breed, of Washington. The annual report further adds:

¢ After o life of active usefillness in various departments, and many years of heroic and
unflagging dovotion to the cause of the oppressed and downtrodden, she wascalled to her
reward. In theday when the record of those who have ministered unto Christ in the person
of his needy ones shall be made up, many o suble son and daughier of Ethiopia will rise up
and call her blessed.” .

Last ycar (1868) theassociation was again called to mourn over the death of a distinguished
member, Mrs. Truinbull, The report continues: .

“During the past year one of the carliest snd warmest friends of tho associntion, Mrs.
Lyman Trumball, of Illinois, has been called to her heavenly home. Although some months
previous to her decease she had withdrawn from our membership, we knew that it was not
from want of sympathy with our cause, but that her position as president of another and
equally important charity claimed all the attention that her delicate health permitted her to
bestow.  As a beloved und valued officer of the association, and o liberal contributor to its
fands, a friend wize in counsel, gontle and lovely in spirit, her name will ever be held in
grateful remembrance by those who had the pleasure of being connected with her in this
work of labor and love, ¢ 'The sncred memory of the just shall flourish though they sleep in
dust.””

MISS WASHINGTON AND MISS JOXNES.

Miss Washington’s excellent school has already been referred to under Period I.  Subse-
quently she moved to a house on L street near her mother’s, remnining there till 1861, wheuo sho
opened a school in the hall over the feed store of Alfred Jones, in company with Matilda
Junes, a danghter of the owner of the building. Miss Jones was one of the most talected of
Miss Miner's scholars, and was her assistant in 1839, She went to Oberlin through Miss
Miner's influence.  They continued the school with eminent success three years, avernging
more than a hundred scholars through that period. In the spring of 1864 Miss Jones went
tack to Oberlin to finish her studies, and Miss Washington went in September to the Baptist
churchi corner of Nineteenth and I strects, to take charge of the Boston School when it was
first opcned.  When, afterwards, this school was under the charge of Miss Capron and Miss
Flagg, Miss Washington becamo an nssistant under these white teachers, and Miss Jones,
returning in 1865 from Oberlin, joined the school as nssociate with Miss Washington, the threo
ladies making & corps of teachers not surpassed by any other in the District. Miss Jones
beeane subsequently the wife of Rev. 8. W. Madden, pastor of the First Baptist church in
Alexandria. When the Boston School was disbanded in 1867, Miss Washington becamo
counected with the public schools, in which she is stili doing ndmirable scrvice us a teacher.

ST. ALOYSIUS' SCHOOL FOR GIRLS.

There are in the Distriet but five colored schools exclusively for girls. Mrs Ellen B.
Wood came liere from Philadelphia, where she had been teaching many years, and started
a school in 1863 on Tifteenth street, opposite Scott square, in the western part of the city ;
moving to E street north, between First aud Sccond streets west, in 1864, and thenco to the
corner of Third street west and G strect north in 1867. The school has now taken up its
houie in two very good rooms, recently finished for the purpose, in the Parochial School build-
ing connected with St. Aloysius church, under the auspices of which the school is now con-
ducted. Mrs, Wood was born in Hayti, but coming early to Philadelphia was educated
with white children in that city, excepting in French, which she learned in a colored school
under o Haytien teacher. She taught o mixed colored and whito school in Camden, Now
Jersey, for a period, and afterwards built up a large colored school in Philadelphia, which
numbered a hundred pupils, when it was surrendered into the hands of the Sisters of Provi-
devee in 1862, Her work in Washington has grown from o few pupils into o large school
with two departments, the average number being about 80 girls. The assistant, Elizabeth
Brown, & native of Philadelphia, was educated at the convent in Baltimore, where sho spent
five years at St. Frances Academy. She is well-cducated, and competent to teach Latin,
French, and music, as well as the primary brunches. This school is frec to all who are
unable to pay. o ‘



240 SCHOOLS OF THE COLORED POPULATION: .

SAINT MARTIN'S 8CHOOLS.

8t. Martin’s school for girls is undor the charge of two teachers from Baltimore. The princi.
pal, Mary 8. Nocl, was & member of the sisterhood of the Baltimore convent, but has been
detached to cngage in teaching. The assistant, Miss Julia Smith, was educated at the 8t
Frauces Academy. St. Martin's school was cstablished in tho summer of 1866 through the
exertions of Rev. Charles T, White, D. D., pastor of St. Matthew’s church, and is not yet fully
systematised. The female academy, which is desigped to bo n seminary of the higher grade,
has hitherto, for want of accommodations, been conducted in counection with the t~rochial
female school of St. Martin's (colored) church. It is now in contemplation to huve them
separated. These schools at present occupy a large building at the junction of L street north
aod Vermont avenue; tho academy comprising at tho present time more than 40 and
the parocbial school 45 pupils. There is also an academy for boys and a parochial school for
boys, each numbering about 30 scholars. The principal is Mr. John McCosker, who was
educated at the Georgetown College. A small night school for adults is also kept up.

MISS MANN'’S SCHOOL.

After Miss Mann gave up the charge of the Orphan Asylum school in Georgetown, in
January, 1865, she established & private school, near the corner of 17th and M streets, for older
‘colored children of.both sexes, intending te give it the character of a Normal school, as far
as the material of the school would allow. In the summer of 1867, however, the Trustees
arranged with Miss Mann to conncct the school with the public schools of the District, giv-
ing it the rank of a high school. It now numbers about fifty scholars, those more advanced
being sent to it both from Georgetown and Washington. It has been conducted with sys-
tom, thoroughness, and euergy, and there are several girls of the school, who will soon be
fitted to act as teachers. At the opening of the year 1869, its connection with the public
schools was djssolved by the action of the Trustees, and it is therefore at present a privato
and independent school.

J. R. FLETCHER’S SCHOOLS.

In the spring of 1864 Mr. J. M. Perkins started an evening school and a Sabbath school
in the Soldiers’ Iree Library building in Judiciary Square; both which passed into the hands
of Mr. J. R. Fletcher, of the Treasury Dopartment, in the following autumn. Mr. Fletcher
is an enthusiastic and thorough teacher, and familiar with the best methods of the Massa-
chusetts schools. Under his excellent management the schools rapidly increased, and soon
reached their present numbers, about 75 in the evening school and 110 in the Sabbath school ;
three-fourths of whom were slaves before the war. The free contributions from tho scholars
have paid for a part of the expenses, and he has been aided in part by onc or two Aid Societies
and by his personal friends, in addition to what he himself has expended. Tor example, the
American Tract Society of Boston furnished the fucl during the first winter snd the American
Missionary Association the second winter, and the Unitarian Church has mado some contri-
butions, Teachers of different denominations have ailed him, as he desired to makeits
union and unsectarian work. In January, 1868, Mr, Fletcher having previously been made
geueral Superintendent of the schools under the direction of the ** Washington Christian -
Union,” hi# night school was included in their work, they assuming the responsibility of
making up eny deficit that might arise in the support of the school. It has been his aim to
draw to the school older and moro advanced pupils, and he has recently organized an adult
class of 25 scholars in the hopo, eventually, of establishing & thorough Normal course, and
fitting such a class, or a portion of them, to be usefui and well informed teachers—at present
one of the most important objocts in the education of the colored people. The Sabbath
school is one of the most flourishing and best organized in the District, and is quite inde-
pendent of any aid or church socicty. It is called the * Puritan Free Mission Sabbath School.”

JOSEPH AMBUSH'S AND OTHER SCHOOLS.

Joseph Ambush, a colored man, free born, opened a school in 1862, July 1, on New York
avenuc between Fourth and Fifth streets, which soon averaged, during a part of the year,
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75 scholars, and now averages nearly that number. Mr, Ambush’s father was a slave. He
himself attended John F, Cook’s school, and for many years was a servant in the family of
Commissary General George Gibson, in whose family he received a good deal of instruction.
In 1867 he moved bis school to the school room connected with Asbury church, corner of
Eleventh and K streets, More than half tho scholars belong to contraband families, most of
themn quite poor, but they all appear very well, and tho school is well conducted. Mr. Am-
bush is & nephow of Enoch Ambush, already mentioned. He speaks of General Gibson and
his family as being very kind to him, and always ready to aid him in his cfforts to get an
education. :

Mrs. C. W. Grove, in 1863, came from New York city and opened a privato school on I
strect between Ninoteenth and Twentioth streets. In the following summer sho was employed
by the Pennsylvania Freedmen's Aid Society in their school in Gulbraith chapel, where she
remained until June, 1867, when sho was engaged by thoe Trustees of the colored public
schools, ut first teaching in the school on T'wenty-fourth and F streets, and afterwards in the
M street schiool.  About tho last of December, 1868, her connection with the public school
ceased by order of the ‘I'rustecs, and sho soon opened a private school on Twenty-third street
near the Circle.

Mrs. Louisa Ricks, who came to Washington from Texas, opencd n achool for girls about
two years ago iu tho barrack building on I streot near Seventeeth street west. She is assisted
ty Miss Eva Dickinson from Connecticut, who tenches music on tho piano, tho school being
provided with o good instrument. Tho scholars number about 50, and 16 aro taking :ausic
lessons, . -

January 4, 1869, Rev, Chauncey Leonard, pastor of the Second Baptist church, (colored,)
opened ¢ day schiool at the corner of Third and G streets, and has an average attendance of
fifty-five scholars of Loth sexes, with ono assistant teacher. Most of tho acholars pay a
small taition fee, but the receipts do not cover the expenses of the school, and the bulance is
paid by Rev. Mr. Leouard, in addition to his services as teacher.

COLFAX INDUSTRIAL MISSION,

This institution owes its origin to an unpretending association of the teachers of the Sab-
bath school nt Wisewell barracks, which held its first mesting November 7, 1867, at those
barracks, on tho corner 7th and O strects. The Sabbath school was organized by these
teachiers in tho autumn of 1868, the American Tract Society having discoutinued its work
at that place in the previous spring. The Sabbath school was under the superintendence
of Jolin A. Cole, and still remains under his supervision. The leading purpose of the
teachers was to maintain an Industrial school, which had been supported by the Tract
Society. On the 20th of May, 1838, with the plan of sccuring a more permanent place
for their school, they adopted o constitution aud entered into a {ull organization, with the
folloning oTicers: John A. Cole, Presidont; Charles H. Bliss, Vice President; 8. C.
Hotehkiss, treasurer; Miss J. M. Alvord, secretary ; John A, Cole, Rev. G, A, Hall, 8am-
uel Barron, John I, Cook, Charles H. Bliss, trustees. The committee who prepared the
constitution consisted of . Whittlosey, Charles H. Bliss, Rev. J. W, Alvord. At the sameo
meeting a committee, cousisting of Mr. Alvord, Rev. Johu Kimball, and Mr. Wolcott, was
appointed to make inquiries and report as to a lot npon which to build a house. They
reported, at a meeting, May 9th, 1883, that o suitable lot had been found, and that the
American Missionary association would furnish tho requisite funds for its purchase. The
lot, about one hundred fect square, on the corner of R aud Eleventh streets, wus purchased for
§2,500, and the Missionary Association furnished $1,600 in part poyment. Messrs. Cole,
Bliss, and Barron wero added to tho committee, and they were now recoguized as the build-
ing committee.

The edifice, which was oponed with the new year, is about 45 by 95 feet, two stories,
and is composed of the samo material as the Howard University. It was erected by the
Freedmen’s bureau and when completed will have cost about §20,000. The lower story con-
sists of ona school room capable of seating cight or nine hundred persons. with two recitation.

16
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rooms, the upper story comprising a large industrial room, and some eight or ten smaller
rooms for various kinds of industrial employment.

The Sunday school of this Association has an average attendance of more than six
hundred scholars of all ages, and the industrial school, held every S8aturday, averages about
200 girls, who aro taught various kinds of work upon cloth, as well as usetul oceupations
counected with house-keeping. These schools are in the caro of an association of ladies
with the following officers: Mrs. C. P. Bliss, President; Mrs, 1X. W. Robiuson, Vico Presi.
dent; Miss Ella Cole, treasurer, Miss J. M. Alvord, secretary. ‘These schools were moved
to the new building on now year’s day, 1569, and the American Missionary Association took
it in charge, furnishing a missionary, Rev. G. N. Murden, of Orland, Maine, who canducts
tho oenevolent work. The Colored Mechanic's Association is to have its headquarters here,
and besides the schools and Sunday worship, there ure to bo lectures upon useful subjects,
Miss Ella Cole, formerly of the Christian Commission, is at present in the service of the
Missionary association. A night school has been organized, and is attended by over 200
scholars, who pay o small tuition fee, 23 cents a month. The Trustees propose to establish
on Industrini school for boys, with shops and utensils for teaching uscful trades: alson
school for adult women. Mr, John A. Cole is the present Superintendent of the Institution.
The Execuative Committeo cousists of the Trustees, with eight others, 15, Whittlesey, Rev,
J. W. Alvord, Rev. John Kimball, Rev. G. N. Marden, 8. C. Hotehkiss, A. S. Pratt, A, D,
Eastman, Warren Brown, Steps have been taken to secure a chaiter for the institution.

MISS WALKER'S INDUSTRIAL SCHOOL,

Among the Industrial schools for the {reedmen, that of Miss Susan Walker is a prominent
and very useful one. Though strictly outside the city limits, it may very properly be
included among the schools of Washington. Miss Walker is a cousin of Rev. James Walker,
D. D., for many years president of Harvard College, and a sister of Judge Walker, tho lato
eminent lawyer and jurist of Cincinnati, and at one timo & partuer of Chief Justice Chase,
On the breaking out of the war she devoted herself’ to the welfare of the soldiers in hospitals
and to the freedmen, being one of the first who in 1862 went to Port Royal for the velief of
the freedmen, who had giathered there in great numbers and were in a suffering condition,
In 1865 she was nrged, and in September was formally appointed, to organize an industrial
scliool among the freedmen at Campbell bavracks, near the terminus of the Seventh street
railroad. December 1 the schocl was opened in ene of the barrack buildings, and soon Miss
Walker had under training, six hours a day, about 70 scholurs, mostly women, who wero
taught various kinds of plain sewing, she preparing the work for them, cutting the garments,
&ec., in the evening.  As these women could not afford to take the time evou for instruction,
unless receiving some romuneration, Miss Walker adopted the plan of paying them propor-
tionately from the articles ot clothing made. In September of the next year, 1866, o regi-
ment of eavalry took up ils quarters near ber school, causing her great annoyance and much
anxiety, as well as distuthing the school work. The officer in command gave her ass rance
of the fullest protection, but the soldiers finally broke into the school-house, an! Gistroyed
or took away private property and private papers, a summary way of declaring then creed’
ou the subject of educating contrabands. In November the school was removed to Wisewell
barracks, and speedily reorganized with an increase of scholars. The general plan and pur-
pose of Miss Walker in this most unpretentious but most useful work are Lest seen in the
following extract from her report of 1866 and 1367: ** During the session of threo months
instruction and employment were given to 315 women and 12 men and boys; 819 garments,
consisting of every variety of clothing for men, women, and children, were mado in the school.
The Burcau furnished material for 70 pairs of pants, 60 pairs of drawers, and 57 shirts, for
the making of which $60 were received. The surgeon-in-chief of the Bureau paid from eight
to ton rations per mounth for work dune for the hospital. These rations were divided as part
payment among the women, who during the winter desired food rather than clothing; 600
garments were also given as additional payment. Service places in and around Washington
were found for 100 women, and 30 others were provided with employment out of the District. .
The Bureau provides school room and fuel. The teacher gives her timo and service, snd
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provides material from such sources as she can command. - The resul’s of the two years are
most gratifying. With few exceptions the women had but recently exchanged the shovel
and the hoe for the needle and thimble. They had not ventured to use the scissors. Ina
few weeks, however, they have learned to cut and make o variety of garments. During the
first school year ten freedwomen, *field hands’ in slavery, cut and made, economically and
neatly, 300 pairs of men’s pants. Others have learned to do fine sewing, and have mado
fine linen shirts in tho best manner. To-day a woman came to thank me for teaching her,
as she now earns $3 a week with her needle. She prefers it to the shovel. The school was
commenced with the desire that, if possible, no money should be expended for teaching.
With the exception of one month, during which a refugee from New Orleans was placed in
the school as an assistant, the teaching and charge of tho school has been a free gift, gladly
offered.  As fast as women learn to be useful they ave required to teach others. The purposo
of the school is to help the freedwomen to help themselves. It is not so much to furnish employ-
ment and do a large quantity of work, as to teach them how to do well whatever they under-
take. Tho objectis to aid them to become self-supporting and independent; to cncourage
in them labits of industry, economy, and cleanliness; to elevate them in character and con-
dition; and to inspire an ambition for self-improvement.”” In August, 1867, Miss \Valker,
to secure & permanent location for her school, bought a lot near the spot where she first
opened it, and on this lot the Bureau erected a commodious building, to which the school was
moved in April, 1868, It is situated near the base of the ridge of land on which the Howard
University is built. In the first four months of that year, while still at Wisewell barracks,
1,745 garments were made specially for the Bureau, which supplied the material. During
the last year Miss Walker has given one lour a day to instructing a portion of the scholars
in reading and writing. The importance of this and every well-managed industrial school,
in advancing the best interests of the freedmen, can hardly be over-estimated. Mrs. Doolittle,
wife of Prof. M. H. Doolittle, of the Naval Obsarvatory, established and carried on in George-
town in {65-'66 a large and very successful industrial school for freedwomen, giving
instruction to 120, mostly adults, and thero are others who have done and are doing much
good in this important department of bhenevolent work.

THE TWO NATIONAL THEOLOGICAL INSTITUTES AND UNIVERSITIES.

The first attempt to organize an institution to train colored men for the ministry was com-
menced in January, 1855, by Rev. Edmund Turney, D.D., a Calvinist Baptist clergyman of
some eminence in the denomination. Dr. Turney came here in that month, and through
his activity a meeting was held in the First Baptist Church, on the first day of Fobruary,
to discuss the subject, and at an adjourned meeting on the 13th of the same month the plan
of a seminary, under the name of the ** National Theological Institute for Colored Minis-
ters,” was ecompleted, and Dr. Turney was elected president. It was chartered by Congress,
under that name, May 10, 1866 ; and by an amendatory act, March 2, 1867, the institution
was expanded into a University, embracing in its designs of culture ““others than thoso
conuected with the Christian ministry.” This enlargement produced a rupture iu the asso-
ciation. The Boston Baptist people, mostly clergymen, wished the institution to be confired
exclusively to the education of ministers and tcachers, and a portion of the executive com-
mittee of the corporation, claiming to be the executive board, and acting in harmony with
the Bostou friends, met at Newark, New Jersey, in May, 1867, and by formal voto resolved
to hold the new powers * in abeyance,” to transfer the ¢ instituto” and tho seat of its opera-
tions fiom Washington to Boston, which transfer in a circular they subsequently announced
had heen done. The portion of the executive committeo in favor of the ‘‘university ” plan
resisted the Newark movement, and carrying the question to the Court of this District wero
fully sustained by its decisions in their resistance, the Court deciding that the corporation
by the terms of its charter, must reside here, and ordering the funds of the corporation,
which had been trauferred to Boston, to be returned. The decision of the Court is as follows :

. "“The corporate functions of said corporation were, by said act, intended to be exercised
in st.ud_Dv_stn:ict, and that ths books, funds, and assets of said corporation should be within
the jurisdiction of this Court,” and it ordered that ‘‘the defendants, or such of them as hold
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or havo cantrol of said books, funds, and assets beyond said jurisdiction, return the sameto
tho said jurisdiction, to the end that the same may be subject to the further order of this
Court,"” May 20, 1868. The Court has no knowledge at this time, January, 1869, that the
order bas been obeyed,

In March, 1867, the Freedmen's Bureau turned over to the institulion ten thousand dollars
from the refugecs and freedmen’s fund, under the act of Congress authorizing the Burean to
assist in the establishment of institutions of learning for the benefit of the colored people.
It is understood, however, that the Bureau took the ground that it was autliorized so to do
under the amendment, which transformed the institution from a Theological Seminary into s
school of gencral culture, This donation is the bone of contention between these two rival
parties, who are aiming at the same beneficent object.

Meanwhilo the Boston section of the double-headed University, which, like Dr. Turney's,
claims tc be ** The National Theological Institute and University," completed their organiza.
tion: This new school was put into operation last autumn, under the instruction of Rer,
G. M. P. King, a young man of excellent qualities, from the State of Maine, and, with a female
assistaut, he has now in his school upwards of 40 men, ranging from 18 yea. of age up tods,
and o small class of girls who are preparing to become teachers, The Soldiers' Free Library
Building, on Judiciary Square, is their school house, and a large barrack building on I
street, near Seventeenth, is tho home of the young men—serving for dormitories and study
rooms, with cooking quarters and dining hall attached—all fitted up in a comfortable manner,
capable of accommodating 35 students. Sixteen arc studying for the ministry.

The first two years of Dr. Turney's work in this District attracted much attention, and the
success with which he trained his theological class received the marked commendation of all
friends of the cause here and clsewhere, His operations, down to March 1, 1867, gave
the Boston friends special satisfaction, as appears from the very high encomiums which were
at that period accorded to him by nearly ali the leading Baptist clergymen of Boston and
vicinity, in a circular issued by the managers of the enterprise. Dr. Turney’s University
scheme embraces the plan of & central school in the District of Columbia, with subordinate
institutions ot a mnormal, preparatory, and industrial character, established at desirable
points throughout the south. During his first year his work here included a geries of night-
schools for men and women, who were intending to teach or preach, and this work he
prosecuted with great assiduity, showing faith in his causc and in the mode chosen to pro-
mote it. In March, 1868, his second year, he opened a day school in a large building on
Louisiana avenue, near Seventh street, and continued it till September, 1867, when it was
removed to a spacious government structure, corner of Twenty-second street west andI
nortb, where it has been to the present time. This school was large, some 45 in num.
_ ber, at its opening, and has so continued. About thirty-five young men are pursuing Theo-
logical studies. Thesystem of subordinate schools in the region bordering upon the city and
District has been maintained from the beginning with persistency, and his friends here and
abroad are firm in his support. This University is the first one, designed specifically for
freedmen, over incorporated in the couutry. In August, 1867, he published a plan of a
** Female Collegiate Institute,” with a full board of instruction. Dr. Turney has an evening
school in his school building of about 30 scholars, not including theological students, and
in February, 1869, he opened another evening school in the Fifth Colored Baptist church on
Vermont avenue, commencing with 30 men, many of whom had been his pupils, This
school is under his personal instruction. In the same building a school for colored women,
now numbering 25 scholars, is held two afternoous a week, under the management of Dr.
Turney, but taught by Miss Lavinia Warner, colored. On Capitol Hill he lias established
an afternoon school, numbering about 25 scholars, including some of his theological students,
one of whom, Washington Waller, has the personal charge of the school, which is taught
five afternoons in the week. This same teacher has an evening school of about 15 scholars
in the small colored Baptist church on Fourteenth street, at ¢* Murder Bay.”* John Jolnson,
another of Dr. Turney’s scholars, Las a small evening school in the Pennsylvania Friend's
building, on Ninctcentl street west, near the boundary. Dr. Turney has also a school five
evenings in the week at ¥reedmen’s Village, Arlington, under his direction. Robert 8. Laws,
a scholar in the Wayland Theological Seminary and who preaches at Arlington, has the



